STATEMENT OF INTENT
2009–2012

Maritime New Zealand
Statement of Intent 2009–2012
Prepared in accordance with Part 4 of the Crown Entities Act 2004

Disclaimer: All care and diligence has been used in extracting, analysing
and compiling this information, however, Maritime New Zealand gives
no warranty that the information provided is without error.
Published in May 2009
Maritime New Zealand, Level 10, Optimation House
1 Grey Street, PO Box 27006, Wellington 6141
This document is available on our website: www.maritimenz.govt.nz

Maritime New Zealand Statement of Intent: 2009–2012

CONTENTS
Chairman’s foreword

iv

PART A: STRATEGIC DIRECTION
Context

Purpose of the Statement of Intent (SOI)
Statutory role and responsibility
Functions of the Authority
Functions of the Director

Organisational profile

2
2
2
2
3
4

Operating environment
Safety
Security
Marine environment protection

5
5
12
12

Strategic plan and operating intentions
Strategic focus areas
Linking outputs to outcomes
Outcome measures and targets

13
14
17
19

Organisational health and capability
Building capability
Measuring capability
Good employer principles

20
20
20
20

PART B: STATEMENT OF SERVICE PERFORMANCE
PROSPECTIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Statement of responsibility

24

Statement of service performance

25

Consolidated MNZ/RCCNZ prospective financial statements

37

Notes to the financial statements

43

APPENDICES
1

Prospective financial statements for MNZ

55

2

Prospective financial statements for RCCNZ

59

3

Prospective financial statements for New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund

63

4

Output allocation table

66

5

Guiding principles

67

6

Good employer initiatives

68

7

Asset management plans

69

iii

Maritime New Zealand Statement of Intent: 2009–2012

CHAIRMAN’S FOREWORD

On behalf of all New Zealanders, Maritime New Zealand (MNZ)
has a critical role in ensuring that our diverse maritime
community and marine environment are kept safe, secure and
clean.

New Zealand’s maritime community is richly diverse and includes some 450,000 pleasure
craft, 3,800 small commercial vessels and 15 New Zealand-flagged vessels, including five
interisland ferries and a range of smaller ferries carrying millions of passengers annually.
With 99% of New Zealand’s trade carried by sea, 800 foreign vessels make 5,800 New
Zealand port visits per year. Each year 100 commercial jet boats and 288 white water
rafts carry around 450,000 passengers on our inland waterways, generating significant
tourism revenue. As a result MNZ touches the lives of many New Zealanders and
international visitors, and those involved with sea-borne traffic.
In this testing economic climate we will continue to build on the significant gains that have
been made in terms of safety, security and environmental protection, while effectively and
efficiently managing our operations to improve performance and minimise costs.
This Statement of Intent describes how MNZ will continue to work with its industry
partners and government agencies to lead and support our diverse maritime community
and to take a shared responsibility for ensuring safe, secure and clean seas.
To support and drive our vision of safe, secure and clean seas MNZ, over the next 3
years, will continue its emphasis on delivering exemplary services by leading and
supporting the maritime community. To achieve this, MNZ will continue to ensure that our
staffing and financial capability is appropriate and represents value for money.
MNZ has a team of approximately 150 staff who provide regulatory and response services
to the maritime community across a broad range of functions.
We look forward to working closely with the Ministry of Transport and other Crown and
transport agencies to progress the shared vision for transport safety in New Zealand.

Susie Staley
Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
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PART A:
STRATEGIC DIRECTION
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CONTEXT
Purpose of the Statement of Intent (SOI)
The purpose of this SOI is to outline what the Minister of Transport, on behalf of all New
Zealanders, is receiving from Maritime New Zealand (MNZ). This SOI will inform the public
and Parliament how MNZ intends, now and in the future, to carry out its functions and
services.
Part A of the SOI describes MNZ’s key functions, its operating environment, what MNZ
aims to achieve in the long term, and how it will be achieved. Part B of the SOI contains
the prospective annual financial and non-financial measures and standards by which the
performance of MNZ will be assessed.

Statutory role and responsibility
MNZ is a statutory entity established under the Maritime Transport Act 1994 (MTA). The
objective of MNZ as described in the MTA Section 430 is:

“To undertake its safety, security, marine protection, and other functions in a way that
contributes to the aim of achieving an integrated, safe, responsive, and sustainable
transport system”.

Functions of the Authority
The Authority has the following functions:
•

To promote maritime safety and security and protection of the marine environment
in New Zealand and beyond New Zealand, in accordance with New Zealand’s
international obligations.

•

To ensure the provision of appropriate distress and safety radio communication
systems and navigational aids for shipping.

•

To ensure New Zealand’s preparedness for, and ability to respond to, marine oil
pollution spills.

•

To license ships, their operation and their crews.

•

To provide information and advice with respect to maritime transport and marine
protection, and to foster appropriate information education programmes with
respect to maritime transport and marine protection that promote its objectives.

•

To investigate and review maritime transport accidents and incidents, and maritime
security breaches and incidents.

•

To maintain the New Zealand Register of Ships.

•

To maintain and preserve records and documents relating to the Authority’s
functions.

•

To advise the Minister on technical maritime safety policy.

•

To maintain and operate the search and rescue co-ordination centre (RCCNZ) and
participate in the co-ordination of any search and rescue operation as required
under the Civil Aviation Act.

•

To ensure effective implementation of the International Code for the Security of
Ships and of Port Facilities, in accordance with the Maritime Security Act.
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Other functions/obligations
•

To administer the Health and Safety in Employment Act for work on board ships
and for ships as places of work.

•

To administer the international obligations of the Crown under the treaties,
memoranda, and other international maritime and marine environment protection
agreements agreed with the Minister of Transport.

•

To develop and maintain maritime safety and marine protection rules.

Functions of the Director
The Director has the following functions:
•

To exercise control over entry into the maritime transport system through the
granting of maritime documents and marine protection documents.

•

To take such action as may be appropriate in the public interest to enforce the
provisions of the Maritime Security Act, Maritime Transport Act, Health and Safety
in Employment Act, and Hazard Substances and New Organisms Act, and of
regulations and rules made under these Acts, including the carrying out or requiring
of inspections and audits.

•

To monitor adherence, within the maritime transport system, to any regulatory
requirements.

•

To ensure regular reviews of the maritime transport system to promote the
improvement and development of its safety and security.

•

To grant exemptions from any specified requirement and any maritime rule.

•

To promote compliance with safety and marine pollution standards in the maritime
transport system.

In performing the first five functions listed above, the Director has statutory independence
from both the Minister of Transport and the Authority.
All these functions and obligations both of the Authority and Director are reflected in the
outputs that MNZ provides in its Statement of Service Performance (SSP) contained in
Part B of this SOI.
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ORGANISATIONAL PROFILE
MNZ takes a strong leadership role, in partnership with the maritime industry, to ensure
the marine environment remains safe, secure and clean for all users. These three key
principles form the basis of MNZ’s vision, defining our work across many different sectors
of the maritime community and with a range of partner organisations.
Established in 1993 as the Maritime Safety Authority, the organisation was renamed
Maritime New Zealand in July 2005 to better reflect its wider role of environmental
protection and maritime security, alongside its focus on safety.
MNZ has an established staff complement of 151.6 full time employees (FTEs) who work
throughout New Zealand, with most based at its national office in Wellington. Two large
teams are also based at the Marine Pollution Response Service (MPRS) in Auckland
(funded by the Oil Pollution Fund – OPF) and at the Rescue Coordination Centre New
Zealand (RCCNZ) in Lower Hutt.
The financials for the three entities and related staffing numbers are detailed below.
Further financial information on these entities can be found in appendices 1–3.
2009/10 budget and staffing

Revenue
Expenditure
Surplus/(deficit)
Established staff complement

MNZ
$(000)
22,560
22,546
14

RCCNZ
$(000)
4,499
5,162
(663)

OPF
$(000)
3,317
4,757
(1,440)

Total
$(000)
30,376
32,465
(2,089)

123.6

20

8

151.6

MNZ’s consolidated revenue position for the 2009/10 financial year is estimated to be
$30.4M, two-thirds of which is generated from the commercial maritime sector and the
remainder is from government.
MNZ is committed to minimising the costs it imposes on the maritime sector, while
continuing to deliver effective services and ensure that high standards of safety, security
and environmental protection are maintained. Currently MNZ is undertaking an
organisational review to ensure correct alignment of activities and people, and to identify
where possible, opportunities to operate smarter and more efficiently.
RCCNZ is expected to incur a $0.7M deficit for 2009/10, a direct result of an increase in
the number and cost of search and rescue operations currently being undertaken. MNZ
has a mechanism in place (through its Output Agreement) for the reimbursement of these
costs should they exceed the funding allocated for these activities. Due to a timing
difference in the reimbursement process, there is likely to be a deficit in the short term.
The OPF is also expected to incur an operating deficit in 2009/10 of $1.4M. Oil pollution
levies have not been updated for a number of years and a review of the levy will be
undertaken in 2009/10. There are sufficient cash reserves to fund this deficit in the short
term.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT
New Zealand’s maritime sector is very diverse, resulting in significant challenges and
opportunities for MNZ as the regulatory body responsible for the safety, security and
protection of our maritime environment.
With a wide range of functions (detailed on pages 6 and 7), MNZ affects the lives of many
New Zealanders and international visitors.
Included in our diverse maritime community are some 450,000 pleasure craft, 3,800 small
commercial vessels and 15 New Zealand-registered vessels – including five interisland
ferries – and a range of smaller ferries carrying millions of passengers annually. With 99%
of New Zealand’s trade carried by sea, 800 foreign vessels make 5,800 New Zealand port
visits per year. As well, 100 commercial jet boats and 288 white water rafts carry around
450,000 passengers on our inland waterways annually, generating significant tourism
revenue.
Operating in the marine environment poses risks, where the consequences of getting
things wrong can have a major impact on New Zealand’s maritime industry, tourism
sector, the marine environment, and its economic well-being long into the future. Our 3year strategic work programme (outlined in Part A of this SOI) is aimed at minimising these
risks while effectively and efficiently managing our operations, to improve performance
and minimise costs.

Safety

Ensuring the safety of the maritime environment is a key strategic outcome of MNZ’s
vision and covers many areas of responsibility, including:

Commercial vessels

Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS) 1 vessels

Annually 800 foreign-flagged (SOLAS) vessels make 5,800 port visits. New Zealand has
obligations as a member of the International Maritime Organization (IMO) to ensure these
vessels are safe.
As part of its obligations, MNZ conducts inspections of a large percentage of these
vessels and, where appropriate, detains or imposes conditions on those that have
deficiencies or otherwise fail to meet standards. During 2008 MNZ carried out 921
inspections of foreign vessels, with 461 vessels having deficiencies requiring corrective
action. A further eight vessels were detained for serious deficiencies.
There are also 15 New Zealand-registered vessels operating in New Zealand waters, and
internationally. These are required to meet international safety (SOLAS) and environmental
protection standards. These vessels are inspected twice per year to the same
international standards as foreign-registered ships. During 2008 there were no detentions
issued by MNZ of New Zealand SOLAS ships.

1

Includes any vessel to which the International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea 1974 (SOLAS) applies,
namely: a passenger vessel engaged on an international voyage; or a non-passenger vessel of 500 tonnes or
more engaged on an international voyage.
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Risks and mitigation strategies
With deteriorating global market conditions, there is a risk that ship owners may look to
cut corners in terms of vessel maintenance and crewing standards. MNZ will continue to
closely monitor any reductions in maintenance or compliance resulting from financial
pressures upon ship owners and ensure that required international standards are met.
Many of the costs of providing safety services to foreign (and domestic) commercial
vessels are recovered by MNZ through the Marine Safety Charge levy (MSC). The current
global economic climate has caused a significant decrease in the level of foreign vessel
activity, resulting in a corresponding reduction in revenue generated from this sector. To
address declining revenue received from the MSC, MNZ will, during 2009/10, complete a
review of its capability and resources, to ensure services are efficiently and effectively
provided to the maritime industry.

Safe ship management (SSM)

MNZ is responsible for overseeing New Zealand’s SSM system, which governs the safe
operation of 3,800 commercial vessels, including fishing, passenger, and non-passenger
vessels. The system is based on the principle that operators take responsibility for their
own safety by developing plans and procedures tailored to their individual vessels, with
support, training and guidance from MNZ.
Vessel monitoring functions within the system have been delegated to SSM companies,
ensuring vessels are regularly inspected and surveyed to ensure they meet safety
standards. MNZ also regularly audits and spot checks vessels as part of its monitoring
function.
Risks and mitigation strategies
While feedback from the maritime industry and various reviews has supported the intent of
the SSM system, it has not always been applied consistently or as effectively across
operators. As a result, significant compliance issues are apparent in some sectors. This
indicates that the implementation of MNZ’s safety management systems framework (of
which SSM is one part) does not align well with our key strategic outcomes, and
represents a risk to MNZ’s vision of improving safety in the maritime environment.
To address this, MNZ has been working on continuously improving the system since
2007, through a wide-ranging review process, which was identified as the key strategic
priority for MNZ in its 2007–2010 SOI. Part of the review includes a focus on the maritime
rules governing SSM, to ensure greater clarity for operators. The review also explores
options for future service delivery of the system, to ensure appropriate standards are
maintained.
Reshaping the SSM system will continue over the next few years (refer to strategic focus
area 1 (SFA1) on page 17) to ensure that a robust, fair and cost-effective vessel safety
management system is implemented consistently, and that this system contributes to
saving lives.

Safe operational plans (SOP)

Jet boats and rafts undertaking adventure tourism activities on rivers, along with dive
boats and smaller fishing boats, are able to use a simplified safety management system –
SOP. Under this system, operators are certified to carry out specific activities using
nominated boats or rafts. Their activity is overseen by “authorised persons” who are either
employed by MNZ or hold delegations from the Director.
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Risks and mitigation strategies
A recent internal audit of SOPs identified areas of inconsistency in the application of the
model across the sector. Additionally, the review of SSM has noted opportunities to
extend the model to unique or low-risk operators, and position SOPs and SSM as points
on a spectrum of delivering safety management systems as a whole.
A number of in-house operational changes have been planned to address the internal
audit findings. Wider policy considerations will be examined during 2009/10, as and when
resources become available.

Health and safety

In May 2003, Government designated MNZ to administer the provisions of the Health and
Safety in Employment Act 1992 (HSE Act) for work on board ships, and ships as places of
work. MNZ’s responsibilities include not only seafarers on New Zealand ships, but also
those working on board, such as pilots, ships’ agents, stevedores, surveyors and
contractors.
Annual funding of $400k has been provided for MNZ to discharge these responsibilities
under the HSE Act. This includes industry training and education, inspections, accident
investigations, and prosecution of parties under the HSE Act. This level of funding is
considered to be inadequate to manage the wide range of risks in this area.
Risks and mitigation strategies
MNZ is currently reviewing the way in which it administers its health and safety
obligations, and is developing an action plan to guide the work of the organisation in this
area over the next 3 years. The review comes amid concern over an increase in the
number of serious harm injuries on board commercial vessels in the last 2 years, despite a
decline in injury statistics between 1998 and 2008.
A high of 83 serious harm injuries was recorded in 2008, compared with a low of 57 in
2006 (see graph below). As MNZ has insufficient funding in this area to target all sectors,
work is underway to identify and then target the areas of highest risk. This has led to a
reduction in targeted effort in the stevedore industry, although regular liaison and work
with port heath and safety committees is continuing.
Reported Serious Harm, 1998-2008
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MNZ’s second strategic focus area (SFA2) is aimed at reducing serious harm and fatalities
by educating and guiding the maritime community to take responsibility for their actions.
Education programmes such as FishSAFE (an industry/government partnership formed to
promote safety in the fishing industry) have proved very successful, with a 50% reduction
in ACC claims for serious harm since its introduction in the coastal fishing sector. Work is
underway to assess the ability of MNZ to extend this approach throughout the maritime
sector, maximising funding through using a network of part-time industry-based mentors.

Seafarer qualifications, licensing and operational limits

As a regulatory authority, MNZ is responsible for issuing maritime documents that allow
vessel operators and crews to work in various capacities within New Zealand and
overseas. MNZ also has a responsibility for setting qualification and training standards for
seafarers.
Risks and mitigation strategies
A significant challenge for MNZ, and for the maritime industry, as it seeks to attract and
retain qualified seafarers amid a worldwide shortage of skilled labour, is to ensure that our
seafarer qualifications, training and licensing remain current, consistent and relevant, with
accepted maritime standards both nationally and internationally.
MNZ will conduct a major review of qualifications as a strategic priority over the next 3
financial years (see SFA1). Also included will be a review of operational limits, which are
closely linked to qualifications, as they allow the document holders to operate in specific
conditions – provided they demonstrate the appropriate skills, experience and safety
knowledge.
The scope of this review will be wide-ranging and comprehensive, and will include
assessment, evaluation and ultimately recommendations for improvement relating to a
range of maritime rules. Industry input will be a critical part of this process, and MNZ will
be working with the sector as the review progresses.

Recreational boating

With a significant increase in the number of recreational pleasure craft operating in New
Zealand waters in recent years, there is increased pressure on MNZ and other water
safety agencies to continue to improve safe boating behaviour across the sector.
Through the efforts of the National Pleasure Boat Safety Forum – a group of 16 water
safety organisations co-ordinated by MNZ – a pleasure boat safety strategy was
introduced in the summer of 2001–02, in response to the high number of fatalities in the
sector. The strategy uses a mix of public education and targeted legislation that focuses
on addressing the four key risk factors in recreational boating deaths – failure to wear
lifejackets; not checking the weather forecast; failure to carry reliable communications;
and alcohol use.
Since its inception the strategy has had a significant impact, reducing recreational boating
fatalities by 50% (see graph on the following page) despite pleasure boat numbers
doubling in that period to an estimated 420,000–470,000 vessels currently.
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Recreational Fatalities, 1998-2008
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Risks and mitigation strategies
A key difficulty for MNZ has been securing adequate funding to support the strategy. A
high number of fatalities over the 2008-09 summer boating season shows there is still
more work to be done. MNZ is currently seeking to access funding from the Land
Transport Fund from tax collected on petrol used for the purpose of recreational boating,
to fund all or part of this strategy.
Implementation of the strategy will continue as funding permits, with the development of
new rules regarding the wearing of lifejackets in small vessels, and the compulsory
carriage of communications equipment on board all pleasure boats.

Maritime rules and guidelines

As part of its regulatory functions, MNZ regularly reviews maritime rules and, where
appropriate develops new rules and safety guidelines in consultation with industry. Our
objective is to ensure safe operating standards reflect the changing maritime environment
and the needs of the maritime sector.
Risks and mitigation strategies
Currently the length of time required to develop and implement new rules or amend
existing legislation can be extensive. This concern was highlighted in a voluntary audit of
New Zealand undertaken by the International Maritime Organization (IMO) in July 2007.
This time lag means that New Zealand’s maritime legislation may not reflect current local
or international obligations.
A key challenge for MNZ is to develop rules and guidelines that are more flexible and
responsive to the industry’s needs. Part of this challenge can be met by ensuring that the
maritime rules programme agreed with the Ministry of Transport (MoT) is more reflective of
changes in local and international conditions. MNZ’s continued involvement in
international forums such as the IMO will ensure international developments are monitored
and, where necessary, tailored to fit New Zealand’s maritime environment.
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A key objective under SFA1 is to streamline the safety management systems that apply to
those engaged in commercial maritime activities. In this respect, MNZ’s goals are threefold:
•

vessels are seaworthy and fit-for-purpose, given the nature of their activities and
areas of operation

•

masters and crew are appropriately qualified for the vessels they operate and areas
of operation

•

owners or operator(s) have plans in place to ensure safe vessel operation.

Safety management systems associated with the three goals above can range from the
simple to the very complex, depending on the degree of risk associated with particular
maritime operations.
A common method for ensuring safety for emerging activities (eg rafting) is to work with
industry partners to develop codes and guidelines. For existing maritime operations,
simplifying rules and minimising compliance costs (where these will not compromise
safety) are key objectives.

Aids to navigation and maritime distress radio

MNZ maintains a number of assets that provide a range of critical safety services to
domestic and commercial shipping. These include both aids to navigation and the
maritime radio distress network. Navigational aids are critical to guide vessels safely around
New Zealand’s 15,134 kilometre-long coastline. MNZ continues to maintain 97 lighthouses
and beacons – including 23 “classic” lighthouses – in some of the remotest parts of the
country.
MNZ also has responsibility for maintaining a maritime radio distress network that covers
New Zealand and the South Pacific. Because maritime radio is often the main
communication lifeline to land, trained operators listen round-the-clock for distress
messages or signals and broadcast safety information, including marine weather forecasts.
Mariners are also encouraged to carry out regular trip reporting when heading out on the
water.
Risks and mitigation strategies
While the bulk of the cost of providing these services is currently recovered through a MSC
levied on domestic and foreign commercial vessels, maintaining adequate levels of funding
is an ongoing challenge for the organisation.
The high cost of maintaining lighthouses around New Zealand’s coastline is also a major
challenge for MNZ. Many of these lighthouses are in remote and difficult-to-reach locations
and require continual maintenance because of their exposure to extreme weather
conditions. While a short-term solution could be to minimise regular routine maintenance on
these lighthouses to reduce costs, experience has shown that this approach results in
higher overall maintenance costs in the medium-to-long-term.

10

Maritime New Zealand Statement of Intent: 2009–2012

Search and rescue

MNZ is responsible for providing search and rescue (SAR) services under delegated powers
from the Minister of Transport. These services include managing the Rescue Coordination
Centre New Zealand (RCCNZ), which operates 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. The centre
responds to all major aviation, land, maritime and emergency beacon-related SAR
operations in New Zealand’s search and rescue region – a highly dynamic, changing
environment that covers an area of some 30 million square kilometres, and is one of the
largest in the world.
Established in 2004, RCCNZ is funded entirely by government. No additional costs are
recovered by the service, which has co-ordinated some 4,000 SAR operations since its
inception, including the rescue of 450 people and the provision of assistance to a further
2,500.
As part of the wider SAR services, RCCNZ is also responsible for monitoring all 406
Megahertz (MHz) distress beacon activations and managing SAR responses to these within
New Zealand’s SAR region. Recent changes to the international satellite system, which
made older style 121.5 and 243 MHz beacons obsolete, has improved the reliability of the
system – because around 90% of the 121.5 and 243 MHz beacon alerts received were false
alarms. Work is continuing on public education and awareness around the use of 406 MHz
beacons, as well as managing the database of registered beacons to make responses to
beacon activations as efficient as possible.
Risks and mitigation strategies
Funding for RCCNZ has changed very little since its establishment in 2004. Faced with
escalating costs and increasing demands on its services, together with an exceptionally
large SAR area, RCCNZ has incurred an operating deficit in each of the last 5 financial
years. Key issues include:
•

Baseline funding of $366k provided to cover the cost of assets used in rescues (eg
helicopters, aircraft, coastguard etc) does not represent the true cost of engaging
these resources. Over the last 4 years the actual cost has averaged $771k. The
reimbursement of these costs has not been timely and has the potential to create
cash flow issues.

•

An operating annual budget set in 2003/04 that is no longer adequate to cover the
costs of running the service. The contract for the maintenance of the groundbased element of the satellite-based alerting and location system is denoted in US
dollars. Exchange rates have had an adverse impact on the budget.

•

Management and operation of the 406 MHz distress beacons database is the
responsibility of RCCNZ. Funding has been provided for a full-time database
administrator, but with the recent switch-over to the new system and with a
significant number of new beacons to register, three additional staff have been
employed to ensure the database is up-to-date. The benefit of having accurate
data in the system is that search costs can be reduced by being able to quickly
determine the circumstances around the beacon alert (eg aircraft undergoing
routine maintenance and beacons being inadvertently activated).

Despite these funding issues, RCCNZ is continuing work to improve the efficiency and
effectiveness of the SAR services provided. A priority in the next period is to continue
developing and implementing service level agreements (SLAs) with key SAR response
providers and other co-ordinating agencies, such as the New Zealand Police. These SLAs
will ensure the most appropriate and timely use of SAR resources to maximise efficiency
and availability, facilitate training between SAR stakeholders, and improve overall service
delivery.
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Security
With 99% of the nation’s imports and exports carried by sea, New Zealand has a vital
interest in the safe and secure transit of these goods to and from our shores. Responsibility
for the security of New Zealand’s maritime environment is another of MNZ’s functions,
which is the designated authority for this activity.
As part of this role, MNZ monitors New Zealand’s compliance with the Maritime Security Act
2004 and International Ship and Port Security (ISPS) Code, by carrying out port security
assessments and ensuring the development, implementation and maintenance of approved
security plans.
MNZ also works closely with other government agencies on the continued development of
strategic partnerships vital to ensuring the rapid dissemination of intelligence, so that any
issues are quickly identified and addressed.

Marine environment protection
While activities such as coastal shipping and offshore oil and gas development provide
important economic benefits to New Zealand, they also represent a significant risk to the
marine environment.
MNZ is one of the lead agencies for marine environmental protection. The three-tier marine
pollution response system is continually being improved, with more than 400 people now
trained in oil spill response around New Zealand, comprising representatives from the oil
industry, regional councils, and MNZ’s own Marine Pollution Response Service (MPRS).
Technological tools such as a web-enabled incident management system will be
implemented over the next year, and this will streamline the conduct of all responses to
major pollution events. Ongoing development, training and exercises involving the national
response team for marine oil spills will continue to be a focus in 2009/10.
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STRATEGIC PLAN AND OPERATING INTENTIONS
The MTA specifies the following outcomes for MNZ: safety, security and marine
environment protection. The strategic framework below maps how MNZ’s activities and
strategic initiatives will impact upon these specified outcomes.

OUTCOMES

VISION

STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK
SAFE, SECURE AND CLEAN SEAS

SAFETY

MARINE
ENVIRONMENT
PROTECTION

SECURITY

STRATEGIC FOCUS AREA 1:

STRATEGIC FOCUS AREA 2:

DELIVER EXEMPLARY FUNCTIONS AND
SERVICES

LEAD AND SUPPORT THE MARITIME COMMUNITY

GOALS

MNZ promotes a culture of continuous improvement
MNZ and the maritime industry are clear about MNZ’s
regulatory role
A maritime qualifications and operational limits regulatory
framework is appropriate for safe vessel operations

MNZ provides effective leadership to the maritime
community

Ensure effective management of vessel safety
management

OUTPUTS

MNZ delivers safety response and security services in an
exemplary manner

KEY SERVICES PROVIDED
Legislative and regulatory framework - Communication and education - Maritime operations and services
Maritime security - Distress and safety radio and navigational aids - Health and safety on board vessels
Marine Pollution Response Service - Marine environment services - Search and Rescue Coordination Centre
Distress beacon management - Training and co-ordination of SAR operations

GOALS

ORGANISATIONAL CAPABILITY

STRATEGIC FOCUS AREA 3:

STRATEGIC FOCUS AREA 4:

ENSURING APPROPRIATE CAPABILITY

ENSURING RESOURCES ARE EFFECTIVE
EFFICIENT AND SUSTAINABLE

MNZ people demonstrate effective leadership
MNZ regularly reviews capability and resources to ensure
they are effective, efficient and represent value for money

MNZ retains, develops and attracts the right people (right
people, right roles)

MNZ GUIDING PRINCIPLES (Refer to appendix 5 for details)
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Strategic focus areas
The 3-year strategic work programme continues the strategic priorities highlighted in
MNZ’s 2008/11 SOI, reflecting current and future key risks identified across the maritime
community. The first three strategic priorities have been reformulated into specific
objectives under the first strategic focus area (SFA1) below.
At the core of MNZ’s work programme is the overarching goal of continually improving the
delivery of efficient and effective services to our wide range of stakeholders. SFA4 has a
specific focus on ensuring that our capability is regularly reviewed, to ensure that MNZ
continues to demonstrate value for money.

SFA1 – Deliver exemplary functions and services
Efficient, effective service delivery continues to be a focus area for the next 3 years. This
SFA is on excellence and delivering outstanding service to our stakeholders.
It is essential that all MNZ’s functions and services have clearly documented policies and
procedures to ensure that it acts within its legal mandate, and that standards developed
are effectively and efficiently communicated and, when required, enforced in a consistent
manner.

How does it link to our stated outcomes?
To deliver exemplary functions and services MNZ needs to be clear about its regulatory
role in each of its three outcome areas, and be consistent and fair in the discharge of its
responsibilities within the maritime community.
Operating intentions for 2009/12
Goals

Milestones

Timeframe

MNZ promotes a culture
of continuous
improvement

MNZ’s internal audit programme approved by the Audit
and Risk Management Committee

31 Jul 2009

MNZ has a robust quality management system

31 Dec 2009

MNZ teams as part of their business planning process
complete a situational analysis and identify areas for
improvement

30 Jun 2010
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Goals

Milestones

MNZ and the maritime
industry are clear about
MNZ’s regulatory role

To ensure that MNZ staff and the maritime industry have
clear, easily understood and consistent policies and
procedures to ensure that legal obligations are
implemented lawfully:

A maritime qualifications
and operational limits
regulatory framework is
appropriate for safe
vessel operations

Ensure effective
management of vessel
safety management

Timeframe

develop appropriate systems and procedures to facilitate
compliance with the regulatory mandate

30 Jun 2010

Develop and implement a compliance policy for industry
that outlines how MNZ will implement its regulatory model

30 Jun 2010

provide consistent education and training to all MNZ staff
to ensure they are fully aware of the powers delegated to
them

30 Jun 2011

conduct an internal audit or peer review to ensure
effectiveness of policies and procedures

31 Mar 2012

To ensure that qualifications and operating limits are
current, flexible and aligned with maritime industry needs:
identify maritime industry requirements for qualifications
and operational limits

30 Jun 2010

review requirements and develop options for addressing
issues identified, including revised qualifications, syllabi,
training provisions and operational limits

30 Apr 2011

Develop a strategy for Safe Operational Plans (SOPs)

31 Dec 2009

Implement the following SSM development initiatives:
• Establish quality procedures for issue of all certificates
• establish a professional development plan for surveyors
• devise and implement an industry training plan
• establish, implement and monitor SSM company and
surveyor oversight plans

30 Jun 2010

Ensure Maritime Rules Part 21 and Part 46, governing
safe ship management, are consistent with the regulatory
framework for delivery of maritime safety services
MNZ delivers safety
response and security
services in an exemplary
manner

30 Jun 2010

Actively co-ordinate response and security services with
other stakeholders across relevant sectors. Specific
projects include:
review oil pollution response capability

31 Dec 2010

develop an integrated RCCNZ development plan

30 Jun 2012

review options to extending the life of the distress/safety
radio service through to 2025

30 Jun 2012
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SFA 2 – Lead and support the maritime community

It is essential that MNZ continues to provide a strong leadership role by providing
direction, guidance and support to the maritime community. It is equally important that the
maritime industry and recreational sectors take greater responsibility and accountability for
safety, security and marine protection in carrying out their activities.

How does it link to our stated outcomes?
Over the next 3 years MNZ will continue to work with the maritime community to improve
standards and compliance in each of the three outcome areas.
Operating intentions for 2009/12
Goals

Milestones

Timeframe

MNZ provides effective
leadership to the
maritime community

Educate, inform and guide the maritime community to
take responsibility for safe, secure and clean seas in
carrying out their activities:
•

implement new lifejacket message in the
recreational boating safety education programme

31 Dec 2009

•

plan and implement a vessel stability campaign

30 Jun 2010

•

develop a communications strategy for MNZ

30 Sep 2010

SFA 3 – Ensure MNZ’s people capability is appropriate
MNZ will ensure that it attracts, develops and retains the right people in the right roles.
Through the implementation of a best-practice human resource strategy, MNZ will ensure
that its people are supported to provide exemplary service and leadership in their roles.

How does it link to our stated outcomes?
In order to provide leadership and support in the maritime community, MNZ requires a
focused, flexible and fully resourced team, who are committed to maintaining, and
improving appropriate safety, security and environment protection standards.
Operating intentions for 2009/12
Goals

Milestones

MNZ people demonstrate
effective leadership

Establish a robust leadership framework that encompasses
appropriate behaviours, competencies, and role modelling
including:
•

selecting a leadership development programme
for MNZ
developing a leadership framework
implementing a leadership framework

30 Sep 2009

Following the organisational review, MNZ will develop a
human resources plan that supports MNZ and its people

30 Jun 2010

Implement human resources plan

30 Jun 2011

•
•
MNZ retains, develops
and attracts the right
people (right people, right
roles)

Timeframe
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SFA 4 – Ensuring resources are effective, efficient and
sustainable
MNZ will continue to review and prioritise its financial capability to ensure it is effective,
efficient, and provides value-for-money services to the government and the maritime
industry. This SFA will include development of a financial modelling system that provides
information to support effective decision making.

How does it link to our stated outcomes?
It is important to have an organisation that is flexible, responsive and sustainable. Over the
next 3 years MNZ will continue to maximise its resources to meet MNZ’s three outcome
areas.
Operating intentions for 2009/12
Goals

Milestones

Timeframe

MNZ regularly reviews
capability and resources
to ensure they are
effective, efficient and
represent value for money

Develop financial modelling that provides information to
support effective decision making

30 Jun 2010

Provide organisational support services that are efficient
and effective, and meet the needs of the maritime industry

30 Jun 2010

Linking outputs to outcomes
The table on the following page shows how key MNZ services (outputs) link to the desired
outcomes that MNZ is focusing on over the next 3 financial years. A more complete
breakdown of MNZ’s activities is documented in the statement of service performance
(SSP) section in Part B of this SOI.

17

Maritime New Zealand Statement of Intent: 2009–2012

OUTCOME FRAMEWORK
OUTCOME

OUTCOME
MEASURES

IMPACTS

IMPACT
DESCRIPTION

IMPACT
MEASURES

OUTPUTS

The rat e per 100
vessels of
accident s, fatalities
and injuri es
involving
international
SO LAS v es sel s in
New Zealand
waters and New
Zealand SOLAS
vessels anywhere

SAFETY

SECURITY

ENVIRONMENT

Minimise all maritime accidents, injuries and fatalities

Minimal disruption
to maritime trade
and tourism

Minimise the impact
of marine oil spilled
into the environment

The rate per
100, 000 operating
hours of f at aliti es,
accidents and
injuries inv olv ing
passenger and nonpassenger v es sel s
operating under
safety management
sy stems

The rate per 100
vessels of fatalities,
accident s and
injuries involving
vessels engaged in
commerc ial jet
boating and whitewater rafting

Effective regulatio n
o f SO LAS vessels

Effective safety
management
system s (SSM/SOP)

Access to
navig ati onal aid s
and distress radio
service

Ensuring the marit ime
regulatory framework
for SO LAS v es sels is
effective and effi cient

Ensuring the mari time
regulatory framework
for SSM/SO P is
effectiv e and
appropriate

Access 24/ 7 dis tres s
and safety radio
service

Percentage of Fl ag
State inspections that
comply wit h safety
requirements

Perc ent age of SSM
complianc e checks
that meet “pass ”
criteria

24/ 7 ac cess to
dis tress and safety
radio

Access to
nav igat ional aids

Acc es s to
navigational aids :
•light house availability
: 99.8%
•day beacons/buoys
av ailability: 97%

Percentage of Port
State inspections that
comply wit h safety
requirements

Direct outputs
Output 1.3

Direct ou tpu ts
Output 1.3

Supported by:
Output 1.1
Output 1.2

Supported by:
Output 1.1
Output 1.2

Dir ect o utputs
O ut put 1.5

The number of
fatalities, ac cidents
and injuries
invol ving all paddl e
craft (ot her than
river raf ts) operating
commerc ially

Str ong safety
culture amo ng
particip ants

The rate per
100,000 operating
hours of accidents,
fatalities and
injuries involving
New Zealand
commercial and
New Zealand
foreign chartered
fis hing vessels

Access to search
and rescu e ser vice

The rate per
100,000 operating
hours of
recreational boating
fatalities

The number of
times that incidents
are raised to
security level two or
three

Amount of oil spilled
into the environment that is not
contained

Access to secur ity
intelligence

Strong security
conscious cultur e in
the ind ustr y

Readiness of
response capability

Industry and
recreational sectors
responsible to strive
for s afety in c arrying
out their acti vities

Effecti ve co -ordinat ion
of SAR operations
and management of
the emergenc y
distress beacon
sys tem

Leverage and
participate in whole of
government ac tivity
and connect ion to
international
intelligenc e serv ices

International ship and
port security (ISPS)
compliant ships and
port s

To ensure New
Zealand’s preparedness for and ability to
respond t o, marine oil
pollution spills

Percentage of survey
respondents who find
MNZ key publications
Lookout!, Safe Seas
Clean Seas useful

24/7 access to SAR
co-ordination service

Ensure potential
threats to New
Zealand port facilities
are advis ed in time for
appropriate action t o
be taken

Number of port
security exercises
completed per annum

Ensure that t he oil
spill preparedness
index is at green lev el

Ensure port security
exercise objectiv es
align with securit y
plans

Number of regional
personnel trained for
oil res ponse

Direct o utputs
O utput 1.4

Di rect outputs
O utput 2.1
O utput 2.2

Percentage of survey
respondents who
recall MNZ safety
mess ages

Perc entage of people
rescued who had/did
not have a 406 MHz
beac on

Di rect outputs
O utput 1.3

Direct ou tp uts
Out put 1. 2

Supported by:
O utput 1.1
O utput 1.2

Support ed by:
Out put 1. 3
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Direct outputs
O utput 1.4

Supported by :
O utput 1.1
O utput 1.2
O utput 1.3

Percentage of
equipment (Tier 3)
ready for response

Supported by:
O utput 1.1
O utput 1.2
O utput 1.3
O utput 1.5
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OUTCOME MEASURES AND TARGETS
These outcome measures and targets were set, taking into account trends over time,
impacts and impact measures, and the overall outcome that MNZ is aiming to achieve
(refer to framework on the previous page). MNZ uses these targets not only as measures
of success over time, but also as a means of focusing attention and action on particular
sectors, both at an internal and external stakeholder level.
TARGET FOR 2006/2010 2

OUTCOME MEASURE
The rate per 100 vessels 3 of accidents, fatalities
and injuries involving international SOLAS
vessels in New Zealand waters and New
Zealand SOLAS vessels anywhere

No increase 4 from a starting point of:

The rate per 100,000 operating hours of
fatalities, accidents and injuries involving
passenger and non-passenger vessels
operating under safety management systems

•

0.07 fatalities/ year

•

2.37 accidents/ year

•

0.66 injuries/ year

50% reduction from a starting point of:
•

0.07 fatalities/ year

•

6.26 accidents/ year

•

1.44 injuries/ year

The rate per 100,000 operating hours of
pleasure boating fatalities 5

25% reduction from a starting point of:

The rate per 100,000 operating hours of
accidents, fatalities and injuries involving New
Zealand commercial and New Zealand foreignchartered fishing vessels

50% reduction from a starting point of:

•

0.03 fatalities/ year

•

0.18 fatalities/ year

•

2.34 accidents/ year

•

1.07 injuries/ year

The volume of oil spilled from vessels into the
marine environment

50% reduction from a starting point of:

The rate per 100 vessels of fatalities, accidents
and injuries involving vessels engaged in
commercial jet boating and white-water rafting

50% reduction from a starting point of:

•

•

The number of fatalities, accidents and injuries
involving all paddle craft (other than river rafts)
operating commerically

44.7 tonnes spilled/ year
0.27 fatalities/ year

•

3.46 accidents/ year

•

2.57 injuries/ year

No increase from a starting point of:

2

•

0 fatalities/ year

•

0.33 accidents/ year

•

0 injuries/ year

The targets have been set over a 4-year reporting period in conjunction with the MoT. All rates are averaged
over 3 years for the period ending 30 June 2006.
Information on operating hours is not currently available for these vessels. Work is underway to estimate this
information and, once it is verified, the target may be amended.
4
It is considered that the level of safety in this area cannot be further improved while still meeting a positive
cost/benefit requirement.
5
Measures for the rates of injuries and accidents have not been set due to the extremely high level of underreporting that is apparent from this sector.
3
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ORGANISATIONAL HEALTH AND CAPABILITY
Building capability
MNZ has developed a capability outcome framework (see the following page) to
demonstrate how the capability of the organisation will support our vision of safe, secure
and clean seas. MNZ is striving to ensure it continues to deliver relevant services
effectively and efficiently, and to provide learning and development opportunities to retain
our key resource – our people.
Three key platforms have been targeted to positively impact MNZ’s capability outcome.
They are sustainable funding, staff retention and recruitment, and efficient and effective
business operations. The high priority MNZ places on these is reflected in the fact that
two of the four strategic focus areas identified in this SOI are directed towards building
and maintaining MNZ’s capability.
MNZ will continue to strengthen its workplace capability, to ensure the organisation
delivers effective and efficient services and demonstrates value for money to the
Government. MNZ will continue to provide learning and development opportunities to
enhance retention of our key resource – our people.

Measuring capability
In addition to the impact measures highlighted in our capability outcome framework, MNZ
has also developed the following additional measures to monitor and measure its
capability:
•

the size and distribution (function and gender) of our staff resources

•

trends in our ability to attract, develop and retain suitably qualified staff

•

regular management review of staff performance against defined performance goals

•

performance and efficiency reviews on relevant parts of the business.

During 2009/10 MNZ will completely review its capability and resources to ensure they are
effective, efficient and represent value for money. Part of this review will include
developing a financial modelling system that supports MNZ’s long-term financial viability
(refer to SFA4).

Good employer principles
The State Services Commission has developed seven key “good employer” principles,
which MNZ is progressively integrating into its human resource polices and procedures.
Key initiatives MNZ intends to undertake against these good employer principles over
2009/10 to build its capability and support its strategic direction and business-as-usual
activities are detailed in appendix 6.
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VISION

SAFE, SECURE AND CLEAN SEAS

OUTCOME

CAPABILITY OUTCOM E FRAM EWORK

To ensure MNZ co ntinues to deliver relevant services effectively and efficiently and to
provide learning and development opportunities to enhance retention
of our key resource - our people

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

IMPACT MEASURES

IMPACTS

Sustainable funding

Sust ainable fund ing
mechanism s t hat take into
acco unt lo ng-term as set
rep lacem en t p rog ram mes
and s ound financial
management practices

Cas h to current liab ilities is
greater than 1: 1
MSC revenue is greater than
64 p ercent of M NZ total
rev enue received
Red uce av erage age o f
d ebtors to less than 30 d ays
A ssets p urchas ed in
accordance with asset
m anagem ent p lan

Develop financial mod elling
that provid es info rm ation to
sup port MNZ decision
making

Staff retention and
recruitment

Sufficient staff t o effectiv el y
m eet core s tatu tory
ob ligations

Efficient and effective
business operations
Sy stem s, p ro cedures and
p olicies that sup port the
efficient and effective
op erat ion o f the b usines s
w ith a p art icular emp hasis on
hum an res ources an d
inform ation serv ices

Annual s taff tu rnov er is no
greater t han 15 percent
Average sick leave d ays
taken p er emp loyee is no
greater than 5 days
No fewer than five staff
co mpleted a lead ersh ip
develo pm en t p rog ram me
ann uall y

Desig n and estab lish a
ro bust lead ersh ip framework
that encom pass es
leadership behavio urs ,
com petencies , and role
mo delling
Select and imp lement a
leadershi p d evelopm ent
p ro gram me fo r M NZ s taff
and em bed it into M NZ
culture
Im plem en t an HR strategy
that sup ports

G UIDING PRINCIPLE S
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10 0 p ercent of internal audits
are comp leted as d etailed in
the an nual internal aud it
p rog ram me

Have an effective
prioritis ation sys tem for
projects and b usin es s cases ,
acro ss its bus iness units
Ro utinely review cap ability
and res ources to ensure they
are effective, efficient and
p rov ide v alue for mo ney
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PART B:
STATEMENT OF SERVICE
PERFORMANCE
PROSPECTIVE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
The information contained in this Statement of Intent for Maritime New Zealand has been
prepared in accordance with the Crown Entities Act 2004.
We acknowledge in signing this statement our responsibility for the prospective financial
statements contained in this Statement of Intent.
The information contained in this Statement of Intent is consistent with existing
appropriations, and with the appropriations set out in the Appropriation (2009/10
Estimates) Bill.

Susie Staley
Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
Date: 18 May 2009

Dave Morgan
Deputy Chairman, Maritime New Zealand
Date: 18 May 2009
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STATEMENT OF SERVICE PERFORMANCE
MNZ’s strategic framework contained in part A of this SOI (refer to page 17) describes
MNZ’s strategic plan and operating intentions for the 3 financial years 2009/12. This
section contains MNZ’s statement of service performance (SSP) and prospective financial
statements (PFS) for the 3 financial years. The SSP (in addition to MNZ’s outcome
measures outlined on page 22) provides a monitoring and evaluation framework to
measure progress towards the desired outcomes. The PFS identify the input costs
associated with providing these outputs.
MNZ has done considerable work on its output framework for 2009/10 to ensure that the
functions MNZ is responsible for (refer to pages 6-7) are fully represented in its associated
outputs and SSP measures. To capture the diversity of these functions, it has been
necessary to establish four additional outputs and 62 new SSP measures. MNZ
recognises that there is still more work to be done in this area, however the new output
framework provides a better basis for evaluating MNZ’s performance against the services
it is mandated to provide, and the associated costs of providing those services.
Work is still continuing with the MoT on formulating a clear allocation model that depicts
the revenue streams attributable to each output class and associated outputs. For further
detail on the allocation of revenue sources refer to appendix 4. It should also be noted
that while the separate outputs show a surplus/(deficit), in its entirety the financial position
equates to a small surplus of $14,000.

Output class 1: Maritime regulation and
monitoring
Description
The purpose of this output class is to promote safety, security and protection of the
marine environment in New Zealand and beyond New Zealand in accordance with New
Zealand’s international obligations. It also includes the promotion of compliance with
safety and marine pollution standards in the maritime system.
This output class contains the following sub-outputs:
•

1.1: legislative and regulatory frameworks

•

1.2: communication and education

•

1.3: maritime operations and services

•

1.4: maritime security

•

1.5: maritime distress and safety radio, and navigational aids

•

1.6: health and safety on board vessels.
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Output 1.1: Legislative and regulatory frameworks
Description
Key functions:
•

to administer the international obligations of the Crown under the treaties,
memoranda and other international maritime and marine environment protection
agreements agreed with the Minister of Transport

•

to develop and maintain maritime rules

•

to advise the Minister of Transport on technical maritime safety policy

•

to ensure regular reviews of the maritime transport system to promote the
improvement and development of its safety and security

•

to maintain and preserve records and documents relating to the Authority’s
functions.
2008/09 6

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

2009/10

2010/12

65–85

65–85

65–85

Number of maritime rules under development

New measure

11

6

Number of Cabinet papers on which MNZ is
consulted

New measure

8

8

Number of Transport Accident Investigation
Commission recommendations “closed” 7
Number of IMO meetings attended

New measure

5

5

New measure

10

10

Percentage of draft replies to ministerial
correspondence and parliamentary questions
accepted by the MoT on first submission
Timeliness:

90%

90%

95%

Percentage of ministerial correspondence and
parliamentary questions provided within
timeframes specified by the Minister’s
Office/MoT
Percentage of maritime rules programme
completed in accordance to the rules contract
subject to any variations agreed with MoT
Budgeted revenue

100%

100%

100%

New measure

100%

100%

Quantity:
Replies to ministerial correspondence and
parliamentary questions

Quality:

Budgeted expenditure
Budgeted surplus/(deficit)

6
7

$2,685,150

$2,315,000

-

$2,909,165

$2,367,000

-

($224,015)

($52,000)

-

Revenue and expenditure figures for 2008/09 are estimated outturns to 30 June 2009.
Recommendations are closed after TAIC is satisfied that MNZ has actioned them appropriately.
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Output 1.2: Communication and education
Description
Key functions:
•

to provide information with respect to maritime transport and marine protection

•

to foster appropriate information education programmes with respect to maritime
transport and marine protection that promote MNZ’s objectives.
2008/09 8

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

2009/10

2010/12

Quantity:
Number of regional boat shows attended by MNZ New measure

6

6

Number of recreational boating television
advertising campaigns run to promote safety
awareness

New measure

1

1

Number of safety resource packs 9 distributed to
the recreational community

New measure

25,000
packs

25,000
packs

Number of times MNZ’s key safety magazine –
Lookout! is published

New measure

4

4

Number of times MNZ’s corporate magazine –
Safe Seas Clean Seas is published

New measure

4

4

New measure

75%

80%

New measure

75%

75%

Quality:
Percentage of survey respondents who find
MNZ key publications Lookout! and Safe Seas
Clean Seas useful
Percentage of people who recall boating safety
TV advertising (as gauged by survey)
Timeliness:
Percentage availability of MNZ’s 24/7 media line

100%

100%

100%

Percentage of key publications Lookout! and
Safe Seas Clean Seas completed by scheduled
due date
Percentage of MNZ guidance notices (including
safety bulletins) published and distributed within
10 days of receiving the final draft
Budgeted revenue

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

$3,029,840

$2,646,000

-

Budgeted expenditure

$3,476,748

$3,430,000

-

($446,908)

($784,000)

-

Budgeted surplus/(deficit)

8
9

Revenue and expenditure figures for 2008/09 are estimated outturns to 30 June 2009.
Resource packs include: a DVD on safe boating in New Zealand, a booklet entitled “Safe Boating: an essential
guide”, a boat dashboard sticker covering tips about boating safety, including basic rules and a safety checklist,
the “Boaties Book” containing advice and local knowledge, and a waste disposal/pollution sticker.
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Output 1.3: Maritime operations and services
Description
Key functions:
•

to exercise control over entry into the maritime transport system through the
granting of maritime documents

•

to maintain the New Zealand Register of Ships

•

to license ships, their operation and their crews

•

to monitor adherence, within the maritime transport system, to any regulatory
requirements

•

to take such action as may be appropriate in the public interest to enforce the
provisions of the Maritime Transport Act, and Hazardous Substances and New
Organisms Act, and of regulations and rules made under these Acts, including the
carrying out or requiring of inspections and audits

•

to investigate and review maritime transport accidents and incidents

•

to grant exemptions from any specified requirement and any maritime rule.
2008/09 10

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

2009/10

2010/12

Quantity:
Number of ship registration transactions

600-800

600–800

600–800

Number of seafarer licensing transactions

New measure

1,000–1,200

1,000–1,200

Number of exemptions from rule requirements
processed

New measure

240

240

15 (100%)

15 (100%)

15 (100%)

Percentage of eligible Port State inspections 12
undertaken

80%

80%

80%

The number of mandatory audits completed as
per MNZ’s external audit schedule

New measure

100%

100%

Number of certificates issued for SSM and SOP
vessels

New measure

1,500–1,700

1,500–1,700

Number and percentage of Flag State
inspections 11 completed

Number of safety inspections

New measure

750

750

Number of education/liaison visits to SOP
operators

New measure

80–90

80–90

Number of statutory notifications received by
MNZ regarding accidents, incidents and
mishaps
Percentage of notified maritime fatalities
preliminarily investigated:
Commercial fatalities
Recreational fatalities
Number of operational complaints received

New measure

350–500

350–500

New measure
New measure
New measure

100%
90%
70–90

100%
90%
70–90

Percentage of SOP audits carried out within
statutory timeframe

New measure

100%

100%

10

Revenue and expenditure figures for 2008/09 are estimated outturns to 30 June 2009.
Inspection of New Zealand-registered ships to verify that the condition of the ship, equipment and safety
systems meet New Zealand’s legal requirements.
12
Inspection of foreign ships in New Zealand ports to verify that the condition of the ship and equipment complies
with the requirements of international conventions.
11
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2008/09 13

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

Number of harbour safety management system
verification audits completed

2009/10

2010/12

New measure

2

5

Percentage of required Flag State follow-up
inspections carried out

New measure

90%

90%

Percentage of safety inspections that meet
“pass” criteria

New measure

90%

96%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

New measure

5 working
days

5 working
days

New measure

90%

90%

Percentage of Flag State non-compliances
closed out within agreed timeframes

New measure

90%

90%

Percentage of mandatory audits completed as
per audit schedule

New measure

100%

100%

Percentage of Section 54 audits initiated within
2 working days of receiving a request from the
Director
Percentage of safety inspections carried out
within timelines specified in the issued certificate

New measure

100%

100%

New measure

100%

100%

Percentage of statutory notifications that are
received, logged, reviewed and assessed within
2 weeks of notification
Percentage of enforcement files processed
within 6 months from the date of the incident

New measure

90%

95%

New measure

100%

100%

Percentage of operational complaints dealt with
within 3 months

New measure

100%

100%

Percentage of harbour safety management
system verification audits completed within 3
months of due date
Budgeted revenue

New measure

100%

100%

Quality:

Timeliness:
Percentage of ship registration enquires
responded to and transactions processed within
10 working days
Percentage of seafarers certificates issued
within 10 working days of receipt of all
necessary documentation
Average time to issue certificates (excluding
seafarers) upon receipt of all necessary
documentation
Percentage of Port State inspections carried out
in accordance with eligibility criteria

Budgeted expenditure
Budgeted surplus/(deficit)

13

$9,839,001

$9,008,000

-

$9,050,963

$7,985,000

-

$788,038

$1,023,000

-

Revenue and expenditure figures for 2008/09 are estimated outturns to 30 June 2009.
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Output 1.4: Maritime security
Description
Key functions:
•

to ensure effective implementation of the International Code for the Security of
Ships and of Port Facilities in accordance with the Maritime Security Act

•

to take such action as may be appropriate in the public interest to enforce the
provisions of the Maritime Security Act and of regulations and rules made under this
Act, including the carrying out of inspections and audits

•

to investigate and review maritime security breaches and incidents.
2008/09 14

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

2009/10

2010/12

Quantity:
Number of port security inspections per annum

14

14

14

Number of port security exercises completed
per annum

14

14

14

Quality:
Percentage of port security exercise objectives
that align with security plans as stipulated in the
Maritime Security Act
Percentage of potential threats to New Zealand
port facilities that are advised in time for
appropriate action to be taken
Timeliness:

New measure

100%

100%

New measure

100%

100%

Percentage of responses made within 1 hour
after receiving specific intelligence concerning
terrorist threats for New Zealand ports and ships
Budgeted revenue

New measure

100%

100%

Budgeted expenditure
Budgeted surplus/(deficit)

14

$1,287,874

$1,181,000

-

$1,294,567

$1,266,000

-

($6,693)

($85,000)

-

Revenue and expenditure figures for 2008/09 are estimated outturns to 30 June 2009.
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Output 1.5: Maritime distress and safety radio, and
navigational aids
Description
Key functions:
•
to ensure the provision of appropriate distress and safety radio communication
systems and navigational aids for shipping.
2008/09 15

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

2009/10

2010/12

Quantity:
Number of MNZ navigational aids maintained

142

142

142

New measure

3

3

99.8%

99.8%

99.8%

Percentage of time day-beacons are operational

97%

97%

97%

Percentage of time buoys are operational

97%

97%

97%

Percentage of time radio stations are operational

99.8%

99.8%

99.8%

Percentage of time a 24/7 distress/safety radio
service is provided

100%

100%

100%

New measure

100%

100%

Number of regional navigational aid audits
Quality:
Percentage of time lighthouses are operational

Timeliness:
Percentage of planned regional navigational aid
audits completed
Budgeted revenue

$6,847,135

$6,090,000

-

Budgeted expenditure

$6,157,223

$5,778,000

-

$689,912

$312,000

-

Budgeted surplus/(deficit)

Output 1.6: Health and safety on board vessels
Description
Key functions:
•

to administer the Health and Safety in Employment (HSE) Act 1992 for work on
board ships and for ships as places of work

•

to take appropriate action as required in the public interest to enforce the
provisions of the HSE Act and regulations and rules made under this Act, including
carrying out or requiring inspections and audits.
2008/09 15

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

2009/10

2010/12

Quantity:
Number of health and safety education/liaison
visits to SSM operators

New measure

150

150

Number of statutory notifications received
regarding serious harm

New measure

75–85

75–85

Budgeted expenditure

$400,000 16
$800,000

Budgeted surplus/(deficit)

($400,000)

Budgeted revenue

15
16

$400,000

-

$800,000

-

($400,000)

-

Revenue and expenditure figures for 2008/09 are estimated outturns to 30 June 2009.
Originally the revenue and costs associated with this output were included in output 1.1.
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Output class 2: Marine environment protection
Description
Through this output class, MNZ will deliver marine environment protection services that
contribute directly towards the Authority’s vision of safe, secure and clean seas. This
output class also contributes to the sector outcomes of promoting a maritime community
that is reducing its negative impacts on the environment.
This output class contains the following sub-outputs:
•

output 2.1: marine pollution response capability 17

•

output 2.2: marine environment services.

Output 2.1: Marine pollution response capability
Description
Key functions:
•

to ensure New Zealand’s preparedness for, and ability to respond to, marine oil
spills.
2008/09 18

2009/10

2010/12

New measure

362

362

Percentage of equipment (Tier 2) 19 ready for
response

New measure

90%

90%

Percentage of equipment (Tier 3) 20 ready for
response

New measure

90%

90%

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

Quantity:
Number of personnel in regions trained for oil
response

Number of training courses conducted

New measure

6

6

Number of regional council plans that are current

New measure

16

16

Number of times MPRS key oil prevention
magazine – The Good Oil is published

New measure

4

4

Green

Green

Green

New measure

90%

90%

Quality:
Status of the Oil Spill Preparedness Index 21
Percentage of attendees on oil pollution training
courses who were satisfied or very satisfied with
their oil pollution response training

17

This output is delivered by the Marine Pollution Response Service (MPRS) based in Te Atatu.
Revenue and expenditure figures for 2008/09 are estimated outturns to 30 June 2009.
19
Responsibility for a Tier 2 response lies with regional councils within their part of the territorial sea (12 nautical
miles) where the oil spill exceeds the capability of the party originally responsible for the spill (Tier 1), or for which
no responsible party can be identified.
20
Responsibility lies with MNZ for managing spills within a region that are beyond the resources of the region, or
that occur within New Zealand’s exclusive economic zone (200 nautical mile limit), but outside regional council
boundaries.
21
This index measures the degree to which current arrangements for responding to Tier 2 and Tier 3 marine oil
spills are at the optimum level specified in the national strategy. Behind the index sits a checklist that is used
to objectively assess the level of preparedness. The checklist is available on request from MNZ.
Preparedness is reported based on a “green” (able to respond), “amber” (able to respond in most
circumstances), and “red” (not able to respond) assessment.
18
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2008/09 22

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

Timeliness:
Percentage of time that a 24/7 advice and
response capability service is provided

2009/10

2010/12

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Percentage of responses to Tier 2 and Tier 3
spills activated within 2 hours of notification to
MNZ
Budgeted revenue

$3,298,000

$3,317,000

-

Budgeted expenditure

$4,512,000

$4,757,000

-

Budgeted surplus/(deficit)

($1,214,000)

($1,440,000)

-

Output 2.2: Marine environment services
Description
Key functions:
•

to provide technical policy advice and analysis on marine environment protection
where MNZ has defined statutory responsibility

•

to develop and maintain marine protection rules

•

to exercise control over entry into the maritime transport system through the
granting of marine protection documents.

Funding for this output is principally provided by the Crown, with additional funding
provided by MoT for rules development. Previously the costs associated with this output
were incorporated under output 1.1: legislative and regulatory frameworks. This new
output has been established to clearly show the full cost of MNZ providing its marine
environment protection services.
2008/09 22

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

2009/10

2010/12

Quantity:
Number of marine protection rules under
development
Number of applications processed for dumping
waste at sea
Number of harmful substance (other than oil)
evaluations carried out as part of MNZ’s
discharge management plan approval process
Number of papers submitted to the IMO Marine
Environment Protection Committee (and related
sub-committees and technical groups)
Timeliness:
Percentage of marine protection rules
programme completed in accordance with the
MoT rules contract, subject to any agreed
variations
Budgeted revenue
Budgeted expenditure
Budgeted surplus/(deficit)
22
23

New measure

3

2

New measure

5–7

5–7

New measure

10

10

New measure

4

4

New measure

100%

100%

$220,000 23
$220,000
0

$230,000
$230,000
0

Revenue and expenditure figures for 2008/09 are estimated outturns to 30 June 2009.
Originally the revenue and costs associated with this output were included in output 1.1.
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Output class 3: Search and rescue activities
Description
Through this output class, MNZ will deliver co-ordination of Search and Rescue (SAR)
operations within the internationally mandated New Zealand SAR region. 24 Services
include the operation and maintenance of a 24/7 SAR co-ordination centre (Rescue
Coordination Centre New Zealand – RCCNZ), funding of SAR operations, the
management and co-ordination of the emergency distress beacon system for New
Zealand, and work to ensure the effective co-ordination and performance of SAR
operations across the SAR sector in New Zealand. 25
This output class contains the following sub-outputs:
•

output 3.1: search and rescue co-ordination

•

output 3.2: distress beacon management and co-ordination

•

output 3.3: training and co-ordination of SAR operations.

Output 3.1: Search and rescue co-ordination centre
Description
Key functions:
•

to operate a 24/7 SAR co-ordination centre – RCCNZ

•

to provide an immediate response to all notified distress alerts within the NZ SAR
region, gathering and evaluating information then planning and executing
appropriate SAR operations

•

to co-ordinate activities covering sea, air, and land operations managed at the
national level, as well as activities and operations related to emergency distress
beacons. 26
2008/09 27

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

2009/10

2010/12

New measure

500–750

500–750

100%

100%

100%

Percentage of time where a 24/7 uninterrupted
co-ordination service is provided

100%

100%

100%

Percentage of SAR incidents logged within 2
minutes of receiving a notification message

100%

100%

100%

Quantity:
Number of logged incidents
Quality:
Percentage of time where a minimum of two
fully-trained SAR officers are on duty 24/7
Timeliness:

24

An area of over 30 million kilometres, stretching from the Pacific Islands to Antarctica, half way to Australia and
half way to Chile.
Working with other government departments and agencies, commercial SAR providers and volunteer groups
and organisations – over 10,000 people contribute to SAR activity in New Zealand.
26
SAR operations within New Zealand are defined by the level of co-ordination – local (Category I) or national
(Category II) as per formal agreement reached at the SAR Council. NZ Police co-ordinates and manages
Category I SAR operations. RCCNZ co-ordinates and manages Category II SAR operations.
27
Revenue and expenditure figures for 2008/09 are estimated outturns to 30 June 2009.
25
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2008/09 28

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

100%

2009/10

2010/12

100%

100%

Percentage of Category II SAR incidents where
identification of the SAR units required is
commenced within 5 minutes of a distress
phase being declared
Budgeted revenue

$3,504,000

$3,243,000

-

Budgeted expenditure

$3,895,000

$3,871,000

-

Budgeted surplus/(deficit)

($391,000)

($628,000)

-

Output 3.2: Distress beacon management and co-ordination
Description
Key functions:
•

operation and maintenance of the ground-based equipment that forms part of the
international satellite system that detects, locates and alerts SAR authorities about
emergency distress beacons, and the operation and maintenance of the emergency
distress beacons database. 29
2008/09 28

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

2009/10

2010/12

Quantity:
Number of 406 MHz beacon alerts received

New measure

300–500

350–550

Percentage of time the gound-based satellite
equipment is available

New measure

98%

98%

Percentage of 406 MHz distress beacon alerts
received by RCCNZ where the beacon is
registered
Quality:

New measure

70%

80%

Percentage of beacons entered into New
Zealand database where entry has been audited
(confirmed) within the previous 2 years (at 30
June)
Timeliness:

New measure

50%

65%

Percentage of beacon registrations received at
RCCNZ and processed into database by the
end of the next working day
Budgeted revenue

New measure

98%

98%

$745,000

$745,000

-

Budgeted expenditure

$780,000

$780,000

-

Budgeted surplus/(deficit)

($35,000)

($35,000)

-

28
29

Revenue and expenditure figures for 2008/09 are estimated outturns to 30 June 2009.
Modern distress beacons (operating on 406 MHz frequency) contain unique, individual identification codes
that allow users to register information against the beacon, such as names and contact details of user, user
activity, user vessel or vehicle details, emergency contacts, next of kin. For New Zealand-registered beacons
this information is maintained in a database operated and managed by RCCNZ. This ensures efficient and
effective SAR operations, as well as saving costs by reducing the number of inappropriate responses to false
alerts. In January 2009 there were 17,000 entries in the database, with new registrations running at 500–
1,000 per month.
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Output 3.3: Training and co-ordination of SAR operations
Description
Provision of joint training courses and other liaison and development activities required to
improve the effective co-ordination and performance of SAR operations within the New
Zealand SAR region. 30
2008/09 31

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

2009/10

2010/12

14

10–15

5–10 33

New measure

100%

100%

18

(15–20)

(15–20)

Budgeted revenue

$205,000

$511,000

-

Budgeted expenditure

$205,000

$511,000

-

0

0

-

Quantity:
Number of service level agreements (SLAs)
developed with key stakeholders in SAR
community 32
Maintain established SLAs with key stakeholders
in SAR community (percentage of planned
reviews of existing SLAs completed in the
period)
Number of joint training courses conducted with
NZ Police

Budgeted surplus/(deficit)

30

The New Zealand SAR sector received 2 years of funding in 2008/09 to address risks around the co-ordination
of SAR activity and the level of funding available to volunteer groups working in the sector. RCCNZ, through
MNZ, received an element of the funding to enable the centre, working jointly with NZ Police, to act as a lead
authority for training, development and liaison across the sector, working to improve co-operation and
communication and raise service standards.
31
Revenue and expenditure figures for 2008/09 are estimated outturns to 30 June 2009.
32
Intention is to conclude agreements with all stakeholders. The measure is reported in terms of total number of
agreements versus number of agencies, commercial providers (including marine, aviation and technology) and
volunteer groups worked with during the year.
33
Number of new SLAs per year will reduce over time, since total number of parties involved is finite.
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CONSOLIDATED MNZ/RCCNZ PROSPECTIVE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Key issues and assumptions in preparing the
financial statements
A number of key issues and assumptions impact on the budget for after 2009/10.
These include the following:
•

Marine Safety Charge (MSC) revenue for the cruise sector has been reduced
significantly ($1.7m) to reflect the expected down-turn in tourism activity. It is
assumed that $2M will be received from this sector in 2009/10. Revenue from this
sector is sensitive to global economic conditions.

•

it has been assumed that RCCNZ’s 2-year additional appropriation of Crown or
equivalent funding will continue after 2009/10.

•

container ships account for approximately 50% of the international MSC revenue.
To reflect the possibility that there may be fewer voyages and port visits made by
these vessels owing to a slow-down in the world economy, a 10% decline in
revenue from this sector has been anticipated.

•

MSC revenue will increase by the rates as set in the MSC Amendment Regulations
which came into effect on 1 December 2008.

•

an assumption has been made that if a permanent staff member leaves and a
replacement is required, the cost of temporary staff will be met by the salary
allocation that is freed up by the leaving staff member.

•

the exchange rate for the RCCNZ fixed contracts is assumed to be USD 0.50.

•

operating costs for the IT systems have increased owing to additional maintenance
and support costs for the replacement of the existing vessel database. With the
winding down of the Government Shared Network (GSN) this has also increased the
IT spend and this has been factored into the budget.

•

the additional training costs provided for RCCNZ as part of the 2008/09 Budget Bid
($511k) have been ring-fenced and can only be used for the purposes specified.
This funding is dependent on the continuation of the additional appropriation.

•

variable search and rescue costs (SAR) have been budgeted at increased levels to
reflect the actual level of activity that is occurring. The average variable SAR costs
over the last 4 years have been $771k as compared to funding provided of $366k.

•

intergroup charges for RCCNZ will remain the same for 2009/10, with a small
increase in out years.
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Consolidated statement of prospective
comprehensive income
For the years ending 30 June 2009/12

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

Revenue
Crown
MoT
Third party
Interest
Total revenue

10,008
658
17,442
435
28,543

10,088
658
15,998
315
27,059

10,088
658
16,499
265
27,510

10,088
658
16,564
180
27,490

Expenses
Personnel
Operating
Depreciation
Capital charge
Inter-group charges

13,348
12,659
1,736
826
-

13,258
12,090
1,474
886
-

13,406
12,376
1,549
886
-

13,534
12,678
1,106
886
-

Total expenses

28,569

27,708

28,217

28,204

(26)

(649)

(707)

(714)

Gains on land and buildings
revaluation

-

-

-

-

Total other comprehensive income
for the year

-

-

-

-

(26)

(649)

(707)

(714)

Net surplus/(deficit)
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Consolidated statement of prospective movements
in equity
For the years ending 30 June 2009/12

Balance at 1 July
Total comprehensive income for
the year
Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

14,257

15,490

14,841

14,134

(26)

(649)

(707)

(714)

1,259
15,490

14,841

14,134

13,420
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Consolidated statement of prospective financial
position
As at 30 June for periods 2009/12

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

6,569
180
290
2,270
9,309

4,652
180
290
2,300
7,422

3,408
180
290
2,182
6,060

2,626
180
290
2,154
5,250

6,851

6,321

6,604

6,082

2,900

4,100

4,453

4,720

9,751

10,421

11,057

10,802

19,060

17,843

17,117

16,052

2,817
753

2,436
566

2,423
560

2,072
560

3,570

3,002

2,983

2,632

-

-

-

-

3,570

3,002

2,983

2,632

EQUITY
From Crown-funded activities
From third party funded activities
Total equity

15,490
15,490

14,841
14,841

14,134
14,134

13,420
13,420

Total equity and liabilities

19,060

17,843

17,117

16,052

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank balances
Prepayments
Inventories
Receivables and advances
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Physical assets
Intangible assets (computer
software)
Total non-current assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables and provisions
Provisions for employee
entitlements
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
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Consolidated statement of prospective cash flows
For the years ending 30 June 2009/12

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

10,008
18,109
435
(13,230)
(13,974)
(779)
(47)

10,088
16,625
322
(13,450)
(12,570)
(886)
(51)

10,088
17,157
265
(13,406)
(13,476)
(886)
0

10,088
17,222
180
(13,534)
(12,606)
(886)
0

522

78

(258)

464

Cash flows from investing activities
Physical assets
Intangible assets
Net cash flows from investing
activities

(657)
(1,142)

(795)
(1,200)

(120)
(866)

(420)
(826)

1,799

(1,995)

(986)

(1,246)

Cash flows from financing activities
Capital contribution
Net cash flows from financing
activities

1,259

0

0

0

1,259

0

0

0

Net increase (decrease) in cash
balances

(18)

(1,917)

(1,244)

(782)

Opening cash balance at 1 July

6,587

6,569

4,652

3,408

6,569

4,652

3,408

2,626

Cash flows from operating activities
Crown funding
Fees and charges
Interest
Personnel
Payments to suppliers
Capital charge
Net GST
Net cash flows from operating
activities

Closing cash balance at 30 June
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Prospective capital expenditure
For the years ending 30 June 2009/12

MNZ

Buoys, day-beacons and navigation
lights
Plant and equipment
Furniture, fittings and office
equipment
Intangible assets (computer software)
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements
Total

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

98

513

250

-

-

-

1,142
284
25
1,799

1,200
222
60
1,995

866
50
70
986

826

345

75
1,246

As in previous years the focus for MNZ in 2009/10 is the development of its IT systems. In
particular, work continues on replacing “Mainstay” which is a key database that supports
the business in carrying out its regulatory and operational functions.
Replacement or upgrading of other assets will occur as part of the need to replace assets
as they reach the end of their economic life (see appendix 7 for specific details).
For RCCNZ the emphasis in 2009/10 will be on developing the database for the 406 MHz
beacons. Further work will continue on upgrading the premises.

Consolidated prospective output statement
For the year ending 30 June 2010

Revenue
Crown
MoT
Third party
Interest
OPF recovery
Total revenue
Expenses
Net surplus/(deficit)

34
35

Output class 1
($000)

Output class 2
($000)

Output class 3
($000)

Total
($000)

5,689
658
15,308
215
690
22,560
22,546

2,967
350

4,399
100

3,317
4,757

4,499
5,162

10,088
658
18,275
665
690
30,376 34
32,465 35

14

(1,440)

(663)

(2,089)

Includes $3,317 revenue from the Oil pollution Fund (OPF), which is not included in the consolidated accounts.
Includes $4,757 expenditure from the OPF, which is not included in the consolidated accounts.
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Consolidated prospective output costs
For the year ending 30 June 2010

Legislative and
regulatory framework
Communication and
education
Maritime operations
and services
Security services
Safety services and
infrastructure
Health and safety on
board vessels
Marine environment
response capability
SAR rescue
co-ordination
capability
Total
Marine environment
response capability
cost recovery
SAR rescue
co-ordination
capability cost
recovery
Grand total

Output class 1
($000)

Output class 2
($000)

Output class 3
($000)

Total
($000)

2,367

-

-

2,367

3,430

-

-

3,430

7,985

-

-

7,985

1,266

-

-

1,266

5,778

-

-

5,778

800

-

-

800

-

4,757

-

4,757

-

-

5,162

5,162

21,626

4,757

5,162

31,545

690

-

-

690

230

-

-

230

22,546

4,757

5,162

32,465
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The prospective financial statements presented are those of the MNZ (the Authority). The
Authority is a Crown entity established in August 1993 under the Maritime Transport Act.
The Authority is responsible for the prospective financial statements presented, including
the appropriateness of the assumptions underlying the prospective financial statements
and all other required disclosures. The Authority has authorised the issue of the
prospective financial statements. The prospective financial statements in this section of
the Statement of Intent have been compiled on the basis of:
•

the requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004

•

the measurement base applied is historical cost. The accrual basis of accounting
has been used unless otherwise stated

•

compliance with New Zealand equivalent to International Financial Reporting
Standard 42 – Prospective Financial Statements

•

compliance with NZ IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements (revised 2007).

The information contained in these statements may not be appropriate for purposes other
than those described, due to the uncertainty attached to these statements. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. It should be noted that
actual financial results achieved for the period covered may vary from the information
presented in these financial statements, and these variations may be material.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Statement of significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the Crown Entities Act 2004, which includes the requirement to comply with New
Zealand’s generally accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP). The financial statements
comply with New Zealand International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) and other
applicable financial reporting standards, as appropriate for public benefit entities.

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented
in these financial statements.

Reporting entity

MNZ is a Crown entity as defined by the Crown Entities Act 2004 and is domiciled in New
Zealand. As such, MNZ’s ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown.
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MNZ’s primary objective is to provide public services to the New Zealand public as
opposed to that of making a financial return. Accordingly, MNZ has designated itself as a
public benefit entity for the purposes of New Zealand Equivalents to NZ IFRS.

Measurement base

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except where
modified by the revaluation of certain items of property, plant and equipment, and the
measurement of derivative financial instruments at fair value.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these financial statements.

Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000). The functional currency of MNZ is New
Zealand dollars.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.
MNZ receives funding from the Crown, and is restricted in its use for the purpose of MNZ
meeting its objectives as specified in the Statement of Intent. Revenue from the Crown is
recognised as revenue when earned, and is reported in the financial period to which it
relates.
Revenue derived from the provision of services to third parties is recognised in proportion
to the stage of completion at balance date. The stage of completion is assessed by
reference to surveys of work performed.
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the entity has transferred to the buyer
the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods.

Expenses

Expenses are recognised when the goods or services have been received on an accrual
basis.

Capital charge

The capital charge is recognised as an expense in the period to which the charge relates.

Leases

Leases that transfer to MNZ substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an asset, whether or not title is eventually transferred, are classified as finance leases.
At the commencement of the lease term, MNZ recognises finance leases as assets and
liabilities in the statement of financial position at the lower of the fair value of the leased
item, or the present value of the minimum lease payment. The finance charge is charged
to the statement of financial performance over the lease period, so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
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The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its useful life. If there is no
certainty as to whether MNZ will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset
is fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.
Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an asset to MNZ are classified as operating leases. Lease payments under an
operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease in the statement of financial performance.
Lease incentives received are recognised in the statement of financial performance over
the lease term as an integral part of the total lease expense.

Taxation

MNZ is a public authority and consequently is exempt from the payment of income tax.
Accordingly no charge for income tax has been provided for. MNZ is not exempt from
indirect tax legislation such as Good and Services Tax, PAYE or ACC, and therefore is
required to comply with these regulations.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

All items in the financial statements are presented on a GST exclusive basis, with the
exception of accounts receivable and accounts payable which are stated as GST
inclusive. Where GST is not recoverable as an input tax, it is recognised as part of the
related asset or expense.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, Inland Revenue is included as
part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. The net GST paid to,
or received from, Inland Revenue, including the GST relating to investing and financing
activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.

Budget figures

The budget figures are derived from the Statement of Intent as approved by the Authority
at the beginning of the financial year. The budget figures have been prepared in
accordance with NZ IFRS, using accounting policies that are consistent with those
adopted by MNZ for the preparation of the financial statements.

Cost allocation

MNZ has determined the cost of outputs by using the cost allocation system outlined
below.
Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output. Indirect costs are those costs
that can not be identified in an economically feasible manner with a specific output. Direct
costs are charged directly to outputs. Indirect costs are charged to outputs based on cost
drivers and related activity/usage information. Depreciation is charged on the basis of
asset utilisation. Personnel costs are charged on the basis of actual time incurred. Other
indirect costs are assigned to outputs based on the proportion of full-time equivalents
(FTEs).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash-on-hand, deposits held on-call with banks both
domestic and international, and other short-term, highly liquid investments, with original
maturities of 3-months or less.
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Debtors and other receivables

Debtors and other receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any provision for
impairment. Impairment of a receivable is established when there is objective evidence
that MNZ will not be able to collect amounts due according to the original terms of the
receivable. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will
enter into bankruptcy, and default in payments are considered indicators that the debtor
is impaired.
The amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted using the original effective
interest rate.

Investments

At each balance sheet date MNZ assesses whether there is any objective evidence that
an investment is impaired.

Bank deposits

Investments in bank deposits are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
After initial recognition investments in bank deposits are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method.
For bank deposits, impairment is established when there is objective evidence that MNZ
will not be able to collect amounts due according to the original terms of the deposit.
Significant financial difficulties of the bank, probability that the bank will enter into
bankruptcy, and default in payments are considered indicators that the deposit is
impaired.

Inventory

Inventories held for distribution or consumption in the provision of services that are not
issued on a commercial basis are measured at the lower of cost (determined on the
weighted average cost method) and current replacement cost. This valuation includes
allowances for slow moving and obsolete stock.
The write-down from cost to current replacement cost or net realisable value is
recognised in the statement of financial performance in the period when the write-down
occurs.

Derivative financial instruments

MNZ uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk
arising from its operational activities. MNZ does not hold or issue these instruments for
trading purposes. MNZ has not adopted hedge accounting.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each balance date. Movements
in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognised in the statement of
financial performance.
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which forward exchange contracts are
held) are translated into New Zealand dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.
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Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of financial
performance.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment asset classes consist of:
•
lighthouses
•
navigational aids
•
plant and equipment
•
motor vehicles
•
furniture, fittings and office equipment
•
computer equipment and software
•
leasehold improvements
•
land.
Property, plant and equipment are shown at cost or valuation, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Revaluations

Land is revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not
differ materially from fair value, and occurs at least every 3 years. Fair value is determined
from market-based evidence by an independent valuer. All other asset classes are carried
at depreciated historical cost.
The carrying values of revalued items are reviewed at each balance date to ensure that
those values are not materially different to fair value. Additions between revaluations are
recorded at cost.

Accounting for revaluations

MNZ accounts for revaluations of property, plant and equipment on a class of assets
basis.
The results of revaluing are credited or debited to an asset revaluation reserve for that
class of asset. Where this results in a debit balance in the asset revaluation reserve, this
balance is expensed in the statement of financial performance. Any subsequent increase
on revaluation that off sets a previous decrease in value recognised in the statement of
financial performance will be recognised first in the statement of financial performance up
to the amount previously expensed, and then credited to the revaluation reserve for that
class of asset.

Additions

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset only when
it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item
will flow to MNZ and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value
when control over the asset is obtained.
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Disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the
carrying amount of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the statement
of financial performance.
When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in revaluation reserves in respect of
those assets are transferred to general funds.

Subsequent costs

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable
that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to
MNZ and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the
statement of financial performance as they are incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment other
than land, at rates that will write-off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated
residual values over their useful lives. The useful lives and associated depreciation rates
used in the preparation of these statements are as follows:
Asset type

Useful life

Lighthouses

10–40 years

Leasehold improvements

straight line

Furniture, fittings and office equipment

2–9 years
5 years

Motor vehicles

5 years

straight line

Navigational aids

10–20 years

straight line

Plant and equipment

5–10 years
3 years

straight line

Computer equipment

Depreciation
method
straight line
straight line

straight line

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the
estimated remaining useful lives of the improvements, whichever is the shorter.
The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at
each financial year-end.

Intangible assets

Software acquisition and development
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to
acquire and bring in the specific software to use.
Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal use by
MNZ, are recognised as an intangible asset. Direct costs include the software
development, employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
Other software-related costs are recognised as follows:
•
staff training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred
•

costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an
expense when incurred
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•

costs associated with the development and maintenance of MNZ’s website are
recognised as an expense when incurred.

Amortisation

The carrying value of an intangible asset with finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis
over its useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at
the date the asset is derecognised. The amortisation charge for each period is recognised
in the statement of financial performance.
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets
have been estimated as follows:
Software type

Useful life

Acquired computer software

3–5 years
8 years

Developed computer software

Depreciation
method
straight line
straight line

Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that have a finite useful life are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where the future economic
benefits or service potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability
to generate net cash inflows, and where MNZ would, if deprived of the asset, replace its
remaining future economic benefits or service potential.
If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and
the carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount. For revalued assets the
impairment loss is recognised against the revaluation reserve for that class of asset.
Where that results in a debit balance in the revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised
in the statement of financial performance.
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total impairment loss is recognised in the
statement of financial performance.
The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited to the revaluation
reserve. However, to the extent that an impairment loss for that class of asset was
previously recognised in the statement of financial performance, a reversal of the
impairment loss is also recognised in the statement of financial performance.
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in the statement of financial performance.

Creditors and other payables

Creditors and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
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Employee entitlements

Short-term employee entitlements
These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned, but
not yet taken at balance date, and retiring and long service leave entitlements expected to
be settled within 12 months.
Employee entitlements that MNZ expects to be settled within 12 months of balance date
are measured at undiscounted nominal values based on accrued entitlements at current
rates of pay. Annual leave is calculated on an actual entitlement basis at the greater of the
average or current hourly earnings in accordance with sections 16(2) and 16(4) of the
Holidays Act 2003.
MNZ does not recognise a liability for sick leave as staff have an unlimited entitlement.
MNZ recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where it is contractually obliged to
pay them, or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.
Long-term employee entitlements
Entitlements that are payable beyond 12 months, such as long service leave and
retirement leave have been calculated on an actuarial basis.
The calculations are based on:
•

likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on years of service, years to
entitlement, the likelihood that staff will reach the point of entitlement, and
contractual entitlements information

•

the present value of the estimated future cash flows.

The discount rate is based on the weighted average of interest rates for government stock
with terms to maturity similar to those of the relevant liabilities. The inflation factor is based
on the expected long-term increase in remuneration for employees.

Superannuation schemes

Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver and the Government Superannuation Fund are
accounted for as a defined contribution superannuation scheme, and are recognised as
an expense in the statement of financial performance as incurred.

Provisions

MNZ recognises a provision for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when
there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that expenditures will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time, value of money, and the risks specific to the obligation. The
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
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Restructuring

A provision for restructuring is recognised when MNZ has approved a detailed formal plan
for the restructuring that has either been announced publicly to those affected, or for
which implementation has already commenced.

Onerous contracts

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived
by MNZ from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations
under the contract.
The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before
a provision is established, MNZ recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated
with that contract.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at their fair value. After initial recognition, all borrowings
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Borrowing costs
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

In preparing these financial statements MNZ has made estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent
actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Property, plant and equipment useful lives and residual value

At each balance date MNZ reviews the useful lives and residual values of its property,
plant and equipment. Assessing the appropriateness of useful life and residual value
estimates of property, plant and equipment requires MNZ to consider a number of factors,
such as the physical condition of the asset, expected period of use of the asset by MNZ,
and expected disposal proceeds from the future sale of the asset.
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will impact on the depreciation
expense recognised in the statement of financial performance, and carrying on the
amount of the asset in the statement of financial position. MNZ minimises the risk of this
estimation uncertainty by:
•

physical inspections of assets

•

asset replacement programmes

•

review of second-hand market prices for similar assets

•

analysis of prior asset sales.

MNZ has not made significant changes to past assumptions concerning useful lives and
residual values. The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in
note 14.
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Statement of prospective cash flows

Cash means cash and cash equivalents on hand, held in bank accounts and demand
deposits in which MNZ invests as part of its day-to-day cash management.
Operating activities include cash received from all income sources, and record the cash
payments made for the supply of goods and services, personnel expenses, interest and
capital charge.
Investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition and disposal of noncurrent assets, intangible assets and investments.
Financing activities comprise the change in equity and debt capital structure of MNZ.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES COMPRISE THE
CHANGE IN EQUITY AND DEBT CAPITAL
STRUCTURE
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APPENDIX 1: PROSPECTIVE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR MNZ
Key issues and assumptions in preparing the financial
statements
A number of key issues and assumptions impact on the budget for 2009/10.
These include the following:
•

MSC revenue for the cruise sector has been reduced significantly ($1.7m) to reflect the
expected down-turn in tourism activity. It is assumed that $2M will be received from this
sector in 2009/10. Revenue from this sector is sensitive to global economic conditions.

•

Container ships account for approximately 50% of the international MSC revenue and
this has been revised downwards by 10%, to reflect the fact that there may be fewer
voyages and port visits being made by these vessels, owing to the slow-down in the
world economy.

•

MSC revenue will increase by the rates as set in the MSC Amendment Regulations
which came into effect on 1 December 2008.

•

An assumption has been made that if a permanent staff member leaves and a
replacement is required, the cost of temporary staff will be met by the salary allocation
that is freed up by the leaving staff member.

•

Operating costs for the IT systems have increased owing to additional maintenance and
support costs for the replacement of the existing vessel database. With the winding
down of the Government Shared Network (GSN), this has also increased the IT spend
and this has been factored into the budget.
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Statement of prospective comprehensive income
For the years ending 30 June 2009/12

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

Revenue
Crown
MoT
Third party
Interest
Total revenue

5,689
658
17,442
300
24,089

5,689
658
15,998
215
22,560

5,689
658
16,499
185
23,031

5,689
658
16,564
130
23,041

Expenses
Personnel
Operating
Depreciation
Capital charge
Inter-group charges

11,412
10,626
1,516
655
(520)

11,109
9,972
1,292
693
(520)

11,235
10,202
1,443
693
(550)

11,342
10,467
1,058
693
(550)

Total expenses

23,689

22,546

23,023

23,010

400

14

8

31

Gains on land and buildings
revaluation

-

-

-

-

Total other comprehensive income
for the year

-

-

-

-

400

14

8

31

Net surplus/(deficit)
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Statement of prospective movements in equity
For the years ending 30 June 2009/12

Balance at 1 July
Total comprehensive income
for the year
Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000

12,201

13,601

13,615

13,623

400

14

8

31

1,000
13,601

13,615

13,623

13,654
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Statement of prospective financial position
At 30 June for periods 2009/12

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

4,949
55
290
2,225
7,519

3,727
55
290
2,255
6,327

3,162
55
290
2,100
5,607

3,162
55
290
2,109
5,606

6,164

5,621

6,073

5,763

2,900

3,950

4,322

4,608

9,064

9,571

10,395

10,371

16,583

15,898

16,002

15,977

2,297
685

1,777
506

1,879
500

1,823
500

2,982

2,283

2,379

2,323

-

-

-

-

2,982

2,283

2,379

2,323

EQUITY
From Crown-funded activities
From third party funded activities
Total equity

13,601
13,601

13,615
13,615

13,623
13,623

13,654
13,654

Total equity and liabilities

16,583

15,898

16,002

15,977

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank balances
Prepayments
Inventories
Receivables and advances
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Physical assets
Intangible assets (computer
software)
Total non-current assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables and provisions
Provisions for employee
entitlements
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
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Statement of prospective cash flows
For the years ending 30 June 2009/12

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000

5,689
18,100
300
(11,412)
(11,146)
(655)
-

5,689
16,625
222
(11,301)
(9,932)
(693)
(47)

5,689
17,157
185
(11,235)
(10,752)
(693)
-

5,689
17,222
130
(11,342)
(9,845)
(693)
-

876

563

351

1,161

(1,540)
-

(1,785)
-

(916)
-

(1,171)

(1,540)

(1,785)

(916)

(1,171)

1,000

-

-

-

1,000

-

-

-

Net increase (decrease) in cash
balances

336

(1,222)

(565)

(10)

Opening cash balance at 1 July

4,613

4,949

3,727

3,162

Closing cash balance at 30 June

4,949

3,727

3,162

3,152

Cash flows from operating activities
Crown funding
Fees and charges
Interest
Personnel
Payments to suppliers
Capital charge
Net GST
Net cash flows from operating
activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Physical assets
Intangible assets
Net cash flows from investing
activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Capital contribution
Net cash flows from financing
activities

Prospective capital expenditure
for the years ending 30 June 2009/12

Buoys, day beacons and navigation
lights
Plant and equipment
Furniture, fittings and office
equipment
Intangible assets (computer software)
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements
Total

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

98

513

-

345

100

-

-

-

1,142
200

1,050
222

866
50

826
-

1,540

1,785

916

1,171
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APPENDIX 2: PROSPECTIVE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR RCCNZ
Key issues and assumptions in preparing the financial
statements
A number of key issues and assumptions impact on the budget for the 2009/10 financial year.
These include the following:
•

It has been assumed that the 2-year additional appropriation of Crown or equivalent
funding will continue after 2009/10.

•

An assumption has been made that if a permanent staff member leaves and a
replacement is required, the cost of temporary staff will be met by the salary allocation
that is freed up by the leaving staff member.

•

The exchange rate for the fixed contracts is assumed to be USD 0.50.

•

The additional training costs provided as part of the 2008/09 budget bid ($511k) have
been ring-fenced and can only be used for the purposes specified. This funding is
dependent on the continuation of the additional appropriation.

•

Variable SAR costs have been budgeted at increased levels to reflect the actual level of
activity that is occurring. The average variable SAR costs over the last 4 years have
been $771k as compared to funding provided of $366k.

•

Inter-group charges will remain the same for 2009/10, with a small increase in out
years.
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Statement of prospective comprehensive income
For the years ending 30 June 2009/12

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

Revenue
Crown
MoT
Third party
Interest
Total revenue

4,319
135
4,454

4,399
100
4,499

4,399
80
4,479

4,399
50
4,449

Expenses
Personnel
Operating
Depreciation
Capital charge
Inter-group charges
Total expenses

1,936
2,033
220
171
520
4,880

2,149
2,118
182
193
520
5,162

2,171
2,174
106
193
550
5,194

2,192
2,211
48
193
550
5,194

Net surplus/(deficit)

(426)

(663)

(715)

(745)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(426)

(663)

(715)

(745)

Other comprehensive income
Gains on land and buildings
revaluation
Total other comprehensive income
for the year
Total comprehensive income
for the year

Statement of prospective movements in equity
For the years ending 30 June 2009/12

Balance at 1 July
Total comprehensive income
for the year
Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

2,056

1,889

1,226

511

(426)

(663)

(715)

(745)

259
1,889

1,226

511

(234)
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Statement of prospective financial position
As at 30 June for periods 2009/12

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

1,620
125
45
1,790

925
125
45
1,095

246
125
82
453

(526)
125
45
(356)

687

700

531

319

-

150

131

112

687

850

662

431

2,477

1945

1115

75

520
68

659
60

544
60

249
60

588

719

604

309

-

-

-

-

588

719

604

309

EQUITY
From Crown-funded activities
From third party funded activities
Total equity

1,889
1,889

1,226
1226

511
511

(234)
(234)

Total equity and liabilities

2,477

1,945

1,115

75

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank balances
Prepayments
Inventories
Receivables and advances
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Physical assets
Intangible assets (computer
software)
Total non-current assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables and provisions
Provisions for employee
entitlements
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
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Statement of prospective cash flows
For the years ending 30 June 2009/12

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000

4,319
9
135
(1,818)
(2,828)
(124)
(47)

4,399
100
(2,149)
(2,638)
(193)
(4)

4,399
80
(2,171)
(2,724)
(193)
0

4,399
50
(2,192)
(2,761)
(193)
0

(354)

(485)

(609)

(697)

Cash flows from investing activities
Physical assets
Intangible assets
Net cash flows from investing
activities

(259)
-

(210)
-

(70)
-

(75)
-

(259)

(210)

(70)

(75)

Cash flows from financing activities
Capital contribution
Net cash flows from financing
activities

259

-

-

-

259

-

-

-

Net increase (decrease) in cash
balances

(354)

(695)

(679)

(772)

Opening cash balance at 1 July

1,974

1,620

925

246

Closing cash balance at 30 June

1,620

925

246

(526)

Cash flows from operating activities
Crown funding
Other
Interest
Personnel
Payments to suppliers
Capital charge
Net GST
Net cash flows from operating
activities

Prospective capital expenditure
For the years ending 30 June 2009/12

2008/09
Estimate
($000)
Buoys, day-beacons and navigation
lights
Plant and equipment
Furniture, fittings and office
equipment
Intangible assets (computer software)
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements
Total

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

70
70

75
75

150
84
25
259

150
60
210

The emphasis in 2009/10 will be on developing the database for the 406 MHz beacons.
Further work will continue on upgrading the premises.
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APPENDIX 3: PROSPECTIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR NEW ZEALAND OIL POLLUTION FUND (OPF)
Key issues and assumptions in preparing the financial
statements
A number of key issues and assumptions impact on the budget for the 2009/10 financial year.
These include the following:
•

The OPF revenue has been reduced for the international sector vessels to reflect fewer
voyages and port visits. This has been offset by an increase in domestic sector revenue,
based on the volumes that have occurred in the 2008/09 year to date.

•

Out years revenue has been assumed to remain constant until the OPF levy can be
reviewed.

•

An assumption has been made that if a permanent staff member leaves and a
replacement is required, the cost of temporary staff will be met by the salary allocation
that is freed up by the leaving staff member.

•

Inter-group charges are assumed to remain constant at 2008/09 levels.

Statement of prospective comprehensive income
for the years ending 30 June 2009/12

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

Revenue
Oil pollution levies
Interest
Other
Total revenue

2,866
380
52
3,298

2,915
350
52
3,317

2,965
300
52
3,317

3,010
250
52
3,312

Expenses
Personnel
Operating
Depreciation
Inter-group charges
Total expenses

736
2,706
380
690
4,512

751
2,979
337
690
4,757

765
2,999
251
690
4,705

781
3,018
217
690
4,706

Net surplus/(deficit)

(1,214)

(1,440)

(1,388)

(1,394)

-

-

Other comprehensive income
Gains on land and buildings
revaluation
Total other comprehensive income
for the year
Total comprehensive income for the
year

-

-

-

-

(1,214)

(1,440)

(1,338)

(1,394)
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Statement of prospective movements in equity
For the years ending 30 June 2009/12

Balance at 1 July
Total comprehensive income for
the year
Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

10,455

9,241

7,801

6,413

(1,214)

(1440)

(1,388)

(1,394)

9,241

7,801

6,413

5,019

Statement of prospective financial position
At 30 June for periods 2009/12

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

Current assets
Cash and bank balances
Inventories
Receivables and advances
Total current assets

4,230
950
253
5,433

2,590
950
452
3,992

1,176
950
315
2,441

(398)
950
315
867

Non-current assets
Physical assets
Total non-current assets

4,212
4,212

4,322
4,322

4,527
4,257

4,702
4,702

Total assets

9,645

8,314

6,968

5,569

336
68

419
94

450
105

450
100

404

513

555

550

-

-

-

-

404

513

555

550

EQUITY
From oil pollution levies
Total equity

9,241
9,241

7,801
7,801

6,413
6,413

5,019
5,019

Total equity and liabilities

9,645

8,314

6,968

5,569

ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables and provisions
Provisions for employee
entitlements
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
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Statement of prospective cash flows
For the years ending 30 June 2009/12

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000)

2,866
380
52
(736)
(980)
(2,416)
(332)
(26)

2,712
355
52
(722)
(1,188)
(2,030)
(389)
18

2,965
300
52
(765)
(1,188)
(2,113)
(389)
(26)

3,010
250
52
(781)
(1,188)
(2,132)
(389)
(26)

(1,192)

(1,192)

(1,164)

(1,204)

(235)
-

(448)
-

(250)
-

(370)
-

(235)

(448)

(250)

(370)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Net increase (decrease) in cash
balances

(1,427)

(1,640)

(1,414)

(1,574)

Opening cash balance at 1 July

5,657

4,230

2,590

1,176

Closing cash balance at 30 June

4,230

2,590

1,176

(398)

Cash flows from operating activities
Oil pollution levies
Interest
Other revenue
Personnel
Regional councils
Other operating expenses
Training courses and exercises
Net GST
Net cash flows from operating
activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Physical assets
Intangible assets
Net cash flows from investing
activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Capital contribution
Net cash flows from financing
activities

Prospective capital expenditure
For the years ending 30 June 2009/12

Buoys, day-beacons and navigation
lights
Plant and equipment
Furniture, fittings and office
equipment
Intangible assets (computer software)
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements
Total

2008/09
Estimate
($000)

2009/10
Budget
($000)

2010/11
Forecast
($000)

2011/12
Forecast
($000

-

-

-

-

235
-

448
-

250
-

370
-

235

448

250

370

The expenditure in 2009/10 is for the replacement of plant and equipment as part of the asset
management plan.
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APPENDIX 4: OUTPUT ALLOCATION TABLE
MoT
contract

Crown

Other
fees

MSC

Interest

Oil pollution
levy

Total
revenue

OPF

Expenditure

Surplus
(deficit)

Output class: 1
Output: 1.1

1,851

438

-

-

26

-

-

2,315

2,367

(52)

Output: 1.2

1,164

-

1,445

7

30

-

-

2,646

3,430

(784)

7,804

803

Output: 1.3

317

-

Output: 1.4

1,164

-

84

-

-

9,008

7,985

1,023

17

-

-

1,181

1,266

(85)

Output: 1.5

793

-

5,203

36

58

-

-

6,090

5,778

312

Output: 1.6

400

-

-

-

-

-

-

400

800

(400)

-

220

-

10

-

-

690 1

920

920

0

5,689

658

14,452

856

215

-

690

22,560

22,546

14

-

52

350

2,915

-

3,317

4,757

(1,440)

Transfers
Total
Output class: 2
Output: 2.1

-

Output: 2.2

-

220 2

-

10

-

-

-

230

230

0

Transfers

-

(220)

-

(10)

-

-

-

(230)

(230)

0

Total

-

-

-

52

350

2,915

-

3,317

4,757

(1,440)

Output: 3.1

3,163

-

-

-

80

-

-

3,243

3,871

(663)

Output: 3.2

725

-

-

-

20

-

-

745

780

(35)

Output: 3.1

511

-

-

-

0

-

-

511

511

0

4,399

-

-

-

100

-

-

4,499

5,162

(663)

10,088

658

14,452

908

665

2,915

690

30,376

32,465

(2,089)

Output class: 3

Total
All Classes

1

Inter-group charges received from MPRS for recovery of overheads. The corresponding expenses are shown in output
class 2.1.
2
Funding allocated for rules development relating to marine environment protection (Output 2.2).
66

Maritime New Zealand Statement of Intent: 2009–2012

APPENDIX 5: GUIDING PRINCIPLES
MNZ has developed principles that define how the organisation will meet its vision,
mission and expectations contained in its service charter. These overarching principles
can be broken down to two main areas: MNZ’s work environment and its people. They
cover key elements that MNZ considers important for developing an appropriate
organisational culture to support the maritime community and MNZ’s strategy.

Work environment
•

Leadership – provide leadership to promote safety, security and marine protection.

•

Standards – establish standards that are appropriate to the risk generated by the
activity.

•

Monitor – actively monitor adherence to regulatory requirements to ensure people
involved in maritime activities are responsible for their actions.

•

Educate – inform, educate and promote safe, secure and clean seas.

•

Legal – work in accordance with MNZ’s statutory responsibilities and legal
obligations.

•

Empower – provide a framework to empower teams to make decisions to ensure
timely and effective response efforts.

•

Support – provide appropriate systems and tools to support the work MNZ does.

•

Compliance – use appropriate regulatory tools to manage compliance.

•

Partnership – work with the maritime community to achieve effective outcomes.

•

Investigate – to learn and not tolerate reckless behaviour.

People
•

Ethics – act with integrity and professionalism.

•

Respect – treat others with respect and act consistently and fairly.

•

Leadership – are skilled and trained to provide robust, credible leadership and
support.

•

Expertise – are valued and recognised for their skills, expertise and experience.

•

Innovation – are listened to and ideas for innovation and improvement sought.
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APPENDIX 6: GOOD EMPLOYER INITIATIVES
MNZ human relations strategy for 2009/10

SSC employer principles

Strategy developed to align with MNZ organisational direction
Deliverables include:
•

vision, mission, and guiding principles promoted within MNZ
through:
o
development of a revised induction programme
o

performance management policy, procedures, and
templates updated and amended to reflect business
plan objectives/outputs and competencies based on
guiding principles (by July 2009)

o

incorporating core skills/behaviours based on MNZ
guiding principles in review of performance management
system

recruitment, selection and
induction
employee development and
promotion

employee development and
promotion
employee development and
promotion

•

training policy and procedures developed, incorporating
identification of individual training/career development needs
and development of framework for annual training
programme supporting MNZ’s strategic direction (by
September 2009)

•

finalisation and implementation of secondment policy

•

remuneration policy and procedures reviewed (by July 2009)

remuneration, recognition
and conditions

•

externally-benchmarked staff survey undertaken during
2009/10 (and ongoing)

leadership, culture,
accountability

•

flexibility of work location considered in line with job
attributes and employee needs on an ongoing basis

flexibility and work design

•

ongoing commitment to ergonomic workstation assessments
for all new staff by appropriately qualified professional, and
implementation of recommendations

flexibility and work design

•

expansion of flexibility for employees through phasing in of
laptops

flexibility and work design

•

commitment to maintaining a safe and healthy work
environment for staff via a robust health and safety system
involving active and effective employee participation and a
range of support services, including an employee wellness
programme

safe and healthy
environment

•

maintenance of Accident Compensation Corporation (ACC)
workplace self-management practices accreditation

safe and healthy
environment

•

free flu immunisation and spot checks available to all staff on
ongoing annual basis

safe and healthy
environment
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APPENDIX 7: ASSET MANAGEMENT PLANS
Navigational aids
A 5-year rolling asset management plan has been implemented. It includes proposed
paint and maintenance work identified in the maintenance reports for each financial year.
Assets are managed as follows:
1. Critical items such as beacons and batteries are replaced before they fail, at
approximately 85% of their useful life.
2. Non-critical items or items with redundancy such as towers, buildings and solar
panels are reviewed annually and included in the 5-year rolling plan when they
show signs of deterioration.
3. Typically three large classic lighthouse maintenance/painting projects are included
in each financial year to spread the cost and workload. The 5-year plan is typically
based on maintenance every 10 years for cast iron towers and every 7 for
wooden towers. The actual maintenance date is reviewed annually on a needs
basis and is dependent on available funding.

Plant and equipment
Radio assets

MNZ relies on the maintenance contractor to provide a 3-year maintenance plan as part
of the maintenance services contract. The 3-year plan identifies items that require
attention and items that require future maintenance to extend their life.
MNZ utilises an asset planner based on the age of the asset and items identified in the 3year plan. The asset planner is used to develop the annual financial plan. Assets are
managed as follows:
1. Critical items such as radio equipment and batteries are replaced every 10 years.
2. Huts and poles are programmed to be replaced every 25 years, although these
items are reviewed every maintenance visit as the asset life may be extended or
reduced depending on the impact of the environment at each site.
3. Smaller items identified in the maintenance reports that are not critical to the
operation of the station are included as routine work in the following year’s
programme.

Local user terminal (LUT)

LUT is the equipment maintained and operated by RCCNZ to receive, process and
display alert signals from 406 MHz emergency distress beacons. LUT assets are
maintained to ensure system reliability as specified by the international distress beacon
organisation – Cospas Sarsat. RCCNZ utilises a 5-year maintenance and support
contract to achieve the service level required. The current contract runs until September
2012. Cospas Sarsat technological programme developments drive the cycle for either
upgrade or replacement of the LUT equipment. It is not anticipated that replacement or
upgrade (outside of the current contract) will be required within the period of this report.
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Computer equipment
Computer equipment replacement is dependant on the age of the asset. Personal
computers and laptops are replaced on a 3-year cycle. Servers and other, larger, capital
items eg uninterruptible power supply equipment, telephony switches and routers are
replaced, on average, every 4 years.

Intangible assets (computer software)
Project Poseidon is a programme of work that was initiated following acceptance of a
recommendation to upgrade MNZ’s IT systems and services.
Within this programme, the replacement of the Human Resources system is now
complete. Work continues on the replacement of the old IT system and extension of the
new application into areas such as seafarer licensing. Outside the Poseidon programme,
continued investment will be made in modernising IT infrastructure and ensuring MNZ
information systems (IS) can support the increasing demands made on MNZ’s core
business areas.
The next major delivery of work for the Poseidon programme will be a new, centralised
ship database, which is forecast for initial delivery in August 2009, with a further major
release planned for February 2010.
A revised IS strategic plan is in production to ensure IS investments continue to be
consistent with MNZ’s strategic goals. Internal capability development is continuing, and
progress on all programme aspects is reported formally to the IS governance group,
which meets monthly.
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